# Healthcare Technology Adoption: A Social-Organisational Perspective

Dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

# Master of Science in Industrial Organisational Psychology

at the University of Canterbury

# Jake Marshall Watson

Supervised by Dr Jennifer Hoi Ki Wong and Professor Sanna Malinen

School of Psychology, Speech and Hearing

University of Canterbury

February 2024

#### Abstract

The medical technology industry, valued at almost a trillion dollars annually, holds significant societal and individual impacts, where advancements are crucial for improving healthcare outcomes. However, the adoption of new healthcare technologies has a success rate of only 30-60%, highlighting a substantial challenge. This is particularly important given the current strain on healthcare because of underfunding, overworking, and an ageing workforce. It is evident from previous research that sufficient healthcare technology plays a pivotal role in addressing this problem. Moreover, previous frameworks pay little attention to socio-organisational factors. Therefore, the current research aims to explore how socioorganisational factors impact healthcare technology adoption. A sequential mixed methods exploratory design constituted of two phases was employed. Firstly, archival data was thematically analysed to explore general barriers and enablers of healthcare technology adoption. Secondly, a quantitative survey was administered to healthcare professionals to which regression and t-test analyses were performed. Data was collected on organisational and social aspects of HCT adoption, including relevant relationships, communication, and innovation culture. Moreover, enablers such as patient outcomes, usability, co-design, and workload accommodations were assessed as well. Results from thematic analysis found seven themes, these were: relationships, the nature of clinical work, the psychology of clinicians, culture, communication, training, and technology characteristics. Qualitative analyses gleaned further insight, proving relationships as a key predictor of technology adoption success. Results also revealed differences in importance between hardware and software regarding communication and training. This thesis highlights the necessity of encompassing socio-organizational factors in HCT adoption studies. For practitioners it demonstrates the importance of considering relationships, co-design, and targeting effective communication and training at specific modalities of technology.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge everyone who supported me during this research. Firstly, a big sincere thank you to my supervisors Jen and Sanna who were just incredible. I want to also thank Kat for her unwavering compassion toward her students. There was a lot of talk about how difficult and arduous this degree is. But the entire teaching team made it feel as though there was always support if and when you needed it. I guess that's one benefit of being taught by well-being experts! I would also like to thank my fellow cohort of students; you guys are all amazing and I wouldn't have wanted to do this with anyone else. Each of you brought a different perspective to every lecture which made for interesting discussions all the time, and great entertainment at other times. I also want to thank my parents and sister for their continued support and love, I love you guys and thank you for allowing me to freeload at the house for a bit. Last but not least, I want to thank my partner in crime Madeline for always being there. I love you.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	3
Table of Contents	4
List of Tables	6
Introduction	7
Healthcare Technology	7
Technology Adoption	8
Benefits of HCT	9
Barriers and Enablers	
Focusing on Social and Organisational Factors	13
Current frameworks	15
Summary	17
Study 1 Methods	
Reflexivity	
Participants and procedures	
Analysis	21
Study 1 Results	
Theme 1: The double-edged sword of relationships. (DESOR)	
Theme 2: The nature of clinical work (NOCW)	27
Theme 3: The psychology of clinicians	
Theme 4: Culture and communication	
Theme 5: Training	41
Theme 6: Technology Characteristics	
Study 1 Discussion	
The double-edged sword of relationships	
Culture and communication.	
Nature of clinical work	
Training	
Psychology of clinicians	

Study 2
Introduction and Rational53
Study 2 Methods
Participants
Procedure
Measures
Analyses
Study 2 Results
Research question 2: What are the socio-organisational factors important for HCT adoption?
Research Question 3: What is the relationship between perceived importance of
socio-organisational factors and HCT adoption?61
Post hoc analysis63
Study 2 Discussion
Research question 2: What are the socio-organisational factors important for HCT adoption?
Research question 3: What is the relationship between perceived importance of socio-organisational factors and HCT adoption?
Post-hoc analysis68
General Discussion
The four C's of adoption (conflict, communication, co-design, and culture) 70
Scholarly Implications75
Limitations and Future Research Considerations76
Conclusion
References
Appendix A: Ethics Amendment Approval 100
Appendix B: Study 1 Interview Information Letter
Appendix C: Study 1 Informed Consent 104
Appendix D: Study 1 Interview Structure 106
Appendix E: Study 2 Information Letter and Consent
Appendix F: Study 2 Survey Poster 109
Appendix G: Study 2 Survey Materials 110

# List of Tables

Table 1 Participant Descriptives Table for Study 1	20
Table 2 Double-edged Sword of Relationships Theme Description and Samples	22
Table 3 The Nature of Clinical Work Theme Description and Samples	28
Table 4 The Psychology of Clinicians Theme Description and Samples	33
Table 5 Culture and Communication Theme Description and Samples	37
Table 6 Training Theme Description and Samples	41
Table 7 Technology Characteristics Theme Description and Samples	45
Table 8 Construct Item Composition and References	58
Table 9 Descriptive and Correlation Table of Constructs Used in RQ2	60
Table 10 Multiple Regression Analysis For Socio-Organisational Factors Predicting Clin	nician
Perspectives	61
Table 11 Hierarchical Regression Analysis, Socio-Organisational Factors Predicting Add	option
Success	62
Table 12 T-test Analysis Results Summary of Importance Questions Split By Hardware	and
Software	64

#### Introduction

Digital technology-enabled healthcare, or 'Smart'-healthcare, has potential benefits, including better patient care, clinical time-management (Jacob et al., 2019), disease selfmanagement (Mosa et al., 2014), remote monitoring, and decreased workload for clinicians (Kotronoulas et al., 2017). However, adoption rates for healthcare technologies remain a challenge. According to reports, new healthcare technology benefits only a range of 30% to 60% of patients (Grol, 2001; Schuster et al., 2005). Various frameworks have been employed to understand the issue of the low rate of technology acceptance which include The Technology Acceptance Model (Davis, 1989), The Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (Venkatesh et al., 2003), and The Theory of Planned Behaviour (Schifter & Ajzen, 1985), among others. However, these frameworks overlook social and organisational factors and are narrowly focused on usability aspects, such as perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness (e.g., Davis, 1989).

Healthcare technology adoption is a significant and relevant issue as it forefronts the need to ease the workload of clinicians and reduce patients' time spent in beds in the context of underfunding (Bagshaw et al., 2022), overworking (Manoharan, 2022), and an ageing workforce in healthcare in Aotearoa New Zealand (Ministry of Health, 2016). This research agrees with others (e.g., Renukappa et al., 2021), that adequate healthcare technology is one, achievable, method of mitigating this stress on healthcare systems. As such, this research aims to understand socio-organisational enablers and barriers in relation to healthcare technology adoption.

#### Healthcare Technology

Healthcare technology typically involves a service model that allows individuals to access healthcare services at any time and from any location, using electronic devices such as

laptops, tablets, or smartphones (Renukappa et al., 2022). This kind of health technology resembles mobile health technology or mHealth which is any healthcare provided by mobile or other wireless technology for managing or improving patient health (World Health Organisation, 2011; Holman, 2018). Application of mHealth technologies range from healthcare apps to continuous glucose monitors (Hartz, 2016; Böhm et al., 2020) and video consultations or telemedicine (Tawfik & Anya, 2015), with the most recent and well-known form of mHealth being covid tracking applications and services (Cao et al., 2022; Adetunji et al., 2022).

For the sake of clarity, healthcare technology (HCT henceforth) not only involves mHealth or health information systems such as patient management systems, but also specific hardware operated by clinics and hospitals to improve patient health, and clinical procedures, and monitor the biological status of patients. These include technologies like X-ray machines, surgical and socially assistive robots (Khan & Anwar, 2020), and electrocardiograms. The hardware-software divide is not absolute, as HCT is generally both, lending to the information and material needs of healthcare providers. For example, technologies such as Silhouette Wound Imaging come with the hardware to carry out diagnostic activities while providing software that links to a wide database of wound images and uses these to help with diagnosis and treatment plans (Patel et al., 2019). This highlights the complexity of HCT and illustrates how intertwined hardware and software typically are.

#### **Technology** Adoption

As highlighted by Robert et al. (2009), technology adoption in organisations has been classified, organised, and perceived in various ways. For example, Hage and Aiken (1967) describe the process as having four phases; evaluation, initiation, implementation, and routinization, whereas Zaltman et al. (1973) describe adoption as knowledge awareness,

attitude formation, decision, initial implementation, and sustained implementation. Further, Van de Ven et al. (2000) suggest the initiation, development, implementation, and termination stages. Therefore, there are different stages to the overall adoption process, from being presented with a technological innovation to the continued use of the innovation through to the termination of use. This thesis does not discriminate between the phases described by other research but takes adoption to mean the entire process.

Most literature on HCT adoption revolves around IT or service model-type technology (e.g., Robert et al., 2009; Tubaishat, 2018). The research landscape is abundant with adoption research looking at how electronic health records or new digital patient management systems are adopted. Specifically, research has focused on the antecedents, drivers, and motivators for adoption (Lin et al., 2012; Najaftorkaman & Ghapanchi, 2014; Almeida et al., 2017), adoption effects or impacts on performance (Bhattacherjee et al., 2006; Laurenza et al., 2018), quality of care (Menachemi et al., 2008; Agha, 2014), and costeffectiveness (Jena & Philipson, 2013). Locating research specifically dedicated to hardware in the context of HCT proves challenging, however, possibly due to the proprietary nature of hardware and the tendency for such research to be conducted internally. This scarcity may also arise from the highly specialized nature of hardware research, making it less likely to surface in broader searches related to HCT. For instance, a targeted search for a particular type of X-ray machine may be necessary to uncover factors influencing its adoption.

## **Benefits of HCT**

The benefits of healthcare technology are wide-ranging and assist with better patient care (Lau et al., 2007), clinical time-management and efficiency (Ventola, 2014; Jacob et al., 2019), disease self-management, remote monitoring, (Istepanian et al., 2014), connecting patients with clinicians (Kotronoulas et al., 2018; Haleem et al., 2021), and reducing

workload of clinicians (Kotronoulas et al., 2017). To put things into perspective, the sales of connected health and wellness devices reached 73 million worldwide in 2016 and significantly surged to 160 million devices in 2020 (Grand View Research, 2019). Furthermore, hundreds of new health-related apps are uploaded to websites every day with 500,000 apps available in 2021 (IQVIA Institute, 2021). Despite demonstrated advantages, the adoption of healthcare technologies in clinical settings remains suboptimal. Healthcare organisations are slower than other sectors to adopt information technology (England et al., 2000), clinical guidelines wane after dissemination (Grol, 2001), and many introduced technologies fail to reach patients (Schuster et al., 2005). However, some argue that the slow adoption rate is a wise approach because of the heterogeneity of patient groups, suggesting the adoption process needs to be careful and flexible (Christensen & Remler, 2009). This thesis disagrees with this sentiment considering the precipice of overworking and understaffing most healthcare professionals find themselves on. Enhanced understanding of the existing impediments and facilitators is therefore critical for bolstering adoption rates.

# **Barriers and Enablers**

Healthcare technology adoption faces a range of barriers and enablers. Barriers can arise due to technical, financial, social, or organisational issues, such as lack of funding (Boonstra & Broekhuis, 2010), data privacy (Gagnon et al., 2016), lack of trust in technology (Dhagarra et al., 2020), technology related anxiety (Talukder et al., 2020), and resistance to change (Tsai et al., 2019). On the other hand, enablers facilitate the adoption and implementation of healthcare technologies and include improved health outcomes, co-design (Gagné, 2000; Cucciniello et al., 2016), dedicated resources (Taylor et al., 2015), and the promise of increased efficiency and quality of healthcare delivery (Schneider et al., 2016). Financial barriers such as start-up and ongoing costs and uncertain return on investment, are frequently highlighted by clinicians as critical barriers, however, they are not the focus of this thesis because they have already been covered extensively (e.g., Boonstra & Broekhuis, 2010). It is important to keep a general rule of thumb in mind, that a lack of a single enabler can shift it into a barrier. For example, going from high workflow to low workflow fit will undoubtedly turn this phenomenon into a barrier.

Technology-specific enablers for HCT adoption can include low cost, low expected effort, and ease of use (Bhatta et al., 2015; Gagnon et al., 2016), which is related to simplicity, convenience, and how easy the technology is to learn (Kavandi & Jaana, 2020). Barriers to adoption can include a mismatch of technological skill and complexity of the technology being implemented (Ludwick & Doucette, 2009), limitations of the technology (DesRoches et al., 2008), and lack of reliability (Randeree, 2007). Because time is a critical factor for clinicians and healthcare organisations, it is no surprise that it is a major barrier to technology adoption. Organisational factors like learning how to use the technology mean workflow is interrupted or slowed (Boonstra & Broekhuis, 2010) and can put stress on clinicians by increasing unnecessary time spent learning the technology (Pizziferri et al., 2005). Efficient and effective training can help overcome this barrier and is a key organisational enabler (Giraldo et al., 2018). Other organisational enablers can include patient-related factors such as comfort with and preference for the technology (Gagnon et al., 2016; Mileski et al., 2017), access to care (Choi et al., 2019), education, and health literacy (Jimbo et al., 2013). Clinician-centred factors such as leadership support (Catan et al., 2015; Mileski et al., 2017), job security (Brewster et al., 2014), workflow fit (Gagnon et al., 2016; Choi et al., 2019), and clear guidelines and policy embedding the technology (Bhatta et al., 2015; Mileski et al., 2017) can enable adoption. Furthermore, perceptions and attitudes towards the technology (MacNeill et al., 2014), appraisal of clinical evidence for the technology (Mileski et al., 2017), awareness of the technology (de Vries et al., 2017), and feelings of competence with technology (Bhatta et al., 2015; Gagnon et al., 2016) are also

important factors which influence HCT adoption. Important to note is that social and organisational factors tend to overlap due to the social nature of organisations.

Social facilitators and barriers to HCT adoption include culture or climate, social influence, endorsement, and observability (Tushman & O'Reilly, 1997; Jacob et al., 2020). Organisational culture can be hard to define, Gershon et al. (2004) cited 54 varying definitions of organisational climate. However, broadly focused, culture is the norms, values, and fundamental assumptions shared by the people which make up an organisation. These shared norms, values, and assumptions are subsequently imparted to incoming members of the organisation and influence how current members of the organisation relate to one another and their workplace (Helfrich et al., 2007). Openness to innovation, psychological safety, and the assumption that novel technology is aimed at creating better outcomes for patients are among some of the cultural enablers present. Social influence is the degree to which a person thinks others important to them believe they should use HCT (Venkatesh et al., 2003). For example, if a clinician perceives a certain person to hold importance, their adoption behaviours may influence the clinician to adopt. Relatedly, whether the attitudes of people in leadership positions are for or against innovation can drastically affect the innovation and adoption behaviour of organisation members and is a major social enabler alongside social influence (Rogers, 1995). Likewise, endorsement of HCT from clinicians can play a pivotal role in patient engagement with HCT (Thomson & McCabe, 2018). Finally, observability is the degree to which the results or outcomes of the technology are observable (Rogers, 2005). The need for clinicians to observe the benefits of the technology, to witness sufficient evidence that it works and is better than existing practices and further, for that information to be diffused has positive effects on HCT adoption.

#### Focusing on Social and Organisational Factors

A socio-organisational lens is required to understand the complexities of healthcare technology adoption. This section reviews the relevant factors of this lens which have been examined in the literature. Again, it should be noted, that social and organisational factors occasionally overlap because of the social nature of organisations.

Beginning at the start of the implementation process, co-design is the process of stakeholder participation in the development and selection of HCT. Co-design can promote acceptance of change, and give clinicians a sense of ownership (Gagné, 2000; Fuchs & Prouska, 2014). This means communication about the technology must be effective and different disciplines need to communicate with each other. Effective teamwork is more likely in well-organized practices that prioritize uninterrupted time for meetings, open communication, and interprofessional respect (Pullon, et al., 2009). Co-design in the context of healthcare typically involves stakeholder participation in the design phase of a technology. Stakeholders can be end-users, organisational leaders, and other people with a vested interest in the product. End-users are typically clinicians or patients, but usually both as HCT is generally administered by clinicians to patients. However, in the case of health information technologies like patient management systems or digital health records clinicians are the sole end-users.

When novel HCT is introduced clinicians more than likely, unknowingly, influence the opinions and attitudes of other clinicians by speaking informally about new technologies. These interpersonal conversations are unlikely to be explicit attempts to persuade others to use novel HCT yet prove powerful in shaping their attitudes through social learning, social influence, and conformity (Fulk, 1993; Holden, 2012). Social learning is a fundamental concept in the field of behavioural psychology and serves as a core component of social cognitive theory (Straub, 2009), which initially originated as social learning theory (Bandura, 1977). Social learning is how individuals acquire new behaviours and knowledge by observing, modelling, and imitating others in their social environment (Rogers et al., 2014). Specifically, observing others' successful or unsuccessful adoption of technology can influence individuals to consider or not consider adoption themselves through modelling (Straub, 2009). Applied in healthcare organisations, social learning relates to sharing patients, informal teaching and learning, and mentoring. However, only a few studies have looked at social learning within healthcare settings (see Grol et al., 2007) and no studies were found to have researched social learning regarding HCT in clinical settings.

An ongoing process regarding HCT implementation is a perceived lack of support from supervisors and co-workers which can have devastating effects on evaluations of change, making it difficult to speak up, trust the technology, and participate in the change associated with technology adoption (Fuchs & Prouska, 2014). Additionally, organisation size plays a role because larger organisations typically have greater resources which can lead to greater endorsement of innovations. Moreover, as suggested earlier, effective leadership is crucial in facilitating successful organisational change (Ford et al., 2021). One of the key roles of leadership is to model and foster a culture that is conducive to adoption, which includes promoting psychological safety and accountability, making workload accommodations, and creating a culture of learning (Wong et al., 2021). This involves providing a safe space that allows for mistakes to be made, learned from, and disseminated throughout the organisation (Kucharska & Bedford, 2020). Finally, organisational culture is considered the cornerstone of innovation and is vital to the adoption of healthcare technology (Tushman & O'Reilly, 1997). Considering the complexities of healthcare technology adoption, a socioorganisational perspective is crucial to understanding how the adoption of healthcare technology works. Factors such as co-design, effective communication, teamwork, social learning, supervisor and co-worker support, leadership, organisational size, and culture significantly impact adoption. Understanding these factors is vital for successful healthcare technology implementation and improving patient care and is the focus of this research.

#### **Current frameworks**

The notion that a person's intention to perform a behaviour is the most important predictor of their actions, is a widely accepted concept in several psychological models. Fishbein's theory of reasoned action (Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975), Ajzen's theory of planned behaviour (1985), and Triandis's attitude-behaviour theory (1979), all support this proposition. These theories posit that individuals tend to carry out their intended actions and avoid actions they do not intend to perform. However, research has found behavioural intentions are not sole predictors of human behaviour, because they fail to account for a substantial amount of behavioural variance (Sheeran, 2002). Other frameworks aimed at explaining technology adoption in clinical contexts include the diffusion of innovation (DOI) theory (Rogers, 1995) which posits that people can be categorized into innovators, early adopters, early majority, late majority, and laggards. DOI is used in approximately 16% of research exploring the adoption of mHealth tools, whereas TAM or extensions of TAM are used in approximately 34% (Jacob et al., 2020). As alluded to, these models have been expanded and modified to suit different research and contexts and the magnitude of variability within and throughout these frameworks suggests there might not be a 'one-size fits all' model. In their review of these frameworks in explaining technology adoption and acceptance of clinicians, Jacob et al. (2020), reveal the incongruence between the theories

explaining technology adoption, their incompatibility, and their inappropriateness for explaining the socio-organisational environment clinicians reside in.

When taken as a whole, these frameworks show a gap in the focus of examining HCT adoption. TAM, UTAUT, and DOI are the most used frameworks to understand technology adoption in healthcare (Jacob et al., 2020). However, TAM examines perceived usefulness, attitudes, and perceived ease of use (Davis, 1989), UTAUT examines (technology) expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, and facilitating conditions (Venkatesh et al., 2003), and DOI focuses on relative advantage, compatibility, and observability (Miller, 2015). Considering the social and organisational factors explored in the previous section, there is a glaring gap in what should be examined when attempting to understand how technology is adopted in healthcare settings. Although UTAUT considers social influence, there are major social factors like co-design (Fuchs & Prouska, 2014), psychological safety (Baer & Frese, 2003) and social learning (Grol et al., 2007) that influence adoption. Moreover, organisational factors are overlooked by these popular frameworks, culture (Robert et al., 2009), supervisor support (Gagnon et al., 2012), and leadership support for innovation (Woods et al., 2004; Ford et al., 2021) have been shown to impact adoption and should be examined as well. These criticisms are not new, others have called for a more nuanced, wider, and more considered view of technology adoption breaking away from traditional individualistic cognitive-behavioural approaches (e.g., Greenhalgh et al., 2017).

Wong et al. (2021) attempt to fill these gaps with their TECH-ism framework which understands technology adoption as an experience of organisational change. TECH-ism considers the context of technology adoption in healthcare settings, from the outset – HCT is being introduced to an organisation constituted of people working together. Building on the diffusion of innovations framework (Miller, 2015), TECH-ism posits that there is a pitfall between the early adopters and the early majority that many technologies and organisations fail to overcome. The aim of the framework is not to explain or predict the technology adoption of clinicians but to assist healthcare decision-makers in identifying, socialising, and managing the socio-organisational factors present (e.g., co-development, communication, workload accommodations, etc.). This thesis takes inspiration from this work.

# Summary

There have been close to 10,000 papers published on general technology adoption since 1973 and journals are observing over 1000 documents published every year (Xu et al., 2021). As mentioned earlier, there are many frameworks and theories that attempt to explain and understand healthcare technology adoption. However, as previously indicated, these frameworks undergo frequent modifications and extensions to accommodate diverse situational contexts and provide limited insights into the relevant social and organisational factors explored in this review, except for the technology-organisation-environment framework and UTAUT which consider organisational factors and social factors respectively (Gangwar et al., 2015). Furthermore, many of these frameworks are employed in organisational settings and social contexts, raising the inquiry of why this is the case.

This research hopes to contribute to the deficit of focus on social and organisational factors by exploring concepts such as technology-related anxiety, relationships of organisational team members, organisational culture, and positive leadership. Moreover, industrial and organisational psychology can lend itself to the issue of poor adoption. Concepts and theories such as behavioural intention (e.g., Triandis, 1979; Rogers, 1983), social learning (Straub, 2009), co-design (Gagné, 2000), and perceived organisational, co-worker, and supervisor support (Fuchs & Prouska, 2020), could be instrumental in understanding the issue of technology adoption. It is clear healthcare technology is vital to

providing patients and clinical users with the tools to improve and maintain health. However, as evidenced by the literature, most HCT is poorly adopted, much of the patient population does not see the benefits of it, and adherence to clinical guidelines often tapper off after dissemination (Grol, 2001; Schuster et al., 2005; Silgo et al., 2017). Therefore, a special focus on social and organisational factors that contribute to technology adoption and how they relate to one another is needed. The research questions are as follows:

RQ1: What are the general barriers and enablers of HCT adoption?

RQ2: What are the socio-organisational factors important for HCT adoption?

# RQ3: What is the relationship between the perceived importance of socio-organisational factors and HCT adoption?

To achieve these aims, the research adopts a sequential exploratory mixed-methods design to enhance the depth and rigour of findings by enabling a comprehensive analysis and giving participants a greater voice (Coyle & Williams, 2000; Shorten & Smith, 2017). The approach consists of two phases: the initial phase employs quantitative analysis to identify general barriers and enablers of HCT adoption. The subsequent phase further refines these findings through qualitative analysis, focusing on a detailed exploration of the identified factors. This method allows for a thorough comparison and integration of data across both phases, ensuring a coherent flow of insights and a structured investigation of thematic barriers and enablers (Coyle & Williams, 2000).

#### **Study 1 Methods**

# Reflexivity

Aligned with the conventional Braun and Clarke methodology (2006), this section will briefly examine some reflections arising during the research process. While I maintain an attempt at impartiality, it is essential to acknowledge potential biases due to my partner's role as a midwife and close connections with individuals in physiotherapy and nursing. This exposure may influence my interpretation of certain findings and my insight into the healthcare system in New Zealand, particularly the midwifery profession, is shaped by personal observations. However, interactions with various healthcare professionals throughout this thesis journey have provided insights into shared challenges, such as underresourcing, experienced across professions.

Occasional exposure to news updates and my parent's involvement in the trade union movement affords me a glimpse into the struggles faced by nurses, doctors, and midwives advocating for improved working conditions, fair compensation, and increased support from employers and the government. At the study's outset, I held neutral sentiments toward healthcare professionals, the healthcare system, and healthcare organizations, likely influenced by positive personal experiences within the New Zealand and United Kingdom healthcare systems. However, exposure to negative experiences shared by others during this research and engagement in related research projects has evoked empathy and altered my perspective.

Towards the research's conclusion, my views have evolved. Through the narratives of healthcare professionals and patients, a growing sympathy has emerged for those grappling with a healthcare system approaching a crisis point. The constraints of under-resourcing and overworking appear to hinder clinicians from delivering the quality of care they aspire to provide. The challenge of recruiting willing participants for the quantitative survey, despite having existing interview data, led me to consider the time constraints and exhaustion faced by clinicians, emphasizing the demanding nature of their work. Despite clinicians' dedication to doing their best with available resources, there exists a tension where patient expectations sometimes exceed the achievable level of care. Increased awareness of clinicians' working conditions has fostered a deeper appreciation for their efforts, extending beyond news reports and protests to a more nuanced understanding of their daily challenges.

#### Participants and procedures

A reflexive thematic analysis was conducted on existing semi-structured interview data which was focused on discovering the general barriers and enablers of HCT adoption. Eight interviews were conducted in 2021 by researchers at the University of Canterbury. I was provided access to the interviews by way of ethics amendment (see Appendix A). Interviews ran from approximately 25 minutes up to 1:02 hours with an average interview time of 34 minutes. Firstly, participants were asked to read information (see Appendix B) and sign consent (see Appendix C) forms before the interview. However, if this was not possible, the interviewer would read it with the participant at the beginning of the interview. See appendix D for the interview script. Participants were recruited through convenience sampling and snowball sampling. They were mostly male (75%) and had an average tenure of 5.5 years (Range: 2.5 - 10+). Participants had a variety of roles which were: process improvement specialist, service improvement manager, professional clinical leader, registered nurse, hospital operations manager, and radiation oncologist.

#### Table 1

#### Participant Descriptives Table for Study 1

Name	Randy	Marlon	Jessie	John	Penny	Tom	Clay	David	
------	-------	--------	--------	------	-------	-----	------	-------	--

Role	Process improve ment specialis	Service improve ment manager	Professi onal Clinical Leader	Process improve ment specialis	Regist ered nurse	Register ed nurse	Hospital Operatio ns Manager	Radiation oncologist
	t			t				
Gender	М	М	F	М	F	М	М	М
Tenure	Unknow	2.5 years	Unkno	7 years	3 years	6 years	5 years	10+ years
	n	•	wn	•	•	•	•	•
Technol	Patient	Workflo	Cough	Digital	Electro	Patient	Workflo	Business
ogy	manage	W	reflex	referral	nic	manage	W	communic
	ment	improve	test	system	medica	ment	improve	ation
	system	ment		-	1	system	ment	platform
	-	tool.			records	÷	tool	*

Participants were asked to explain their role and tenure with their current position and how long they have been in the healthcare sector. Once an understanding of their role was established, participants were asked about a time when new technology was introduced to their workplace, what it was, how it was introduced, and what the initial reactions from staff were. Then participants were asked what barriers and enablers they perceive for HCT adoption about the specific technology and in general. Other questions concerning decisionmaking processes (who is involved, approval and implementation steps and how long implementation takes), and general perceptions of technology uptake (risk, openness to technology, and confidence around new technology) were asked if there was time. The names of participants have been changed to protect their identity. For a complete list of questions and interview flow see Appendix D.

#### Analysis

Following Braun and Clarke's (2006) thematic analysis methodology, the first author initially immersed themselves in the data to establish a comprehensive familiarity through listening and reading interview transcripts multiple times. Subsequently, separate coding from the first and second authors was conducted over several weeks which was undertaken with a focus on identifying general barriers and enablers to technology adoption in healthcare. Both authors came together after several weeks to sense-check each other's extracted themes. Following this, a zooming-out process by the first author was employed to identify general themes encompassing the existing thematic codes. The themes then underwent refinement over several weeks by the first author and subsequently sense-checked by the second author.

# **Study 1 Results**

In this section, the results of the thematic analysis are presented by sequentially

reporting on each theme. At the beginning of each theme section a table is given as an

overview and guide of the themes and theme components.

# Theme 1: The double-edged sword of relationships. (DESOR)

# Table 2

Main theme	Description	
The double-	About how relationships at	
edged sword of	multiple levels (Inter-team,	
relationships.	inter-organisation, leader-	
	follower, and clinician-	
	patient) can be both effective	
	and a hindrance to adoption.	
Sub themes		Sample
Co-design	About the positive impact	"But we knew that in order for the
	designing, implementing,	technologies to be adopted, we had to
	and communication between	have complete buy in from the doctors.
	developers, clinicians,	So, we had several of the doctors
	patients, and other	working on the project with us." - John
	stakeholders has on HCT	
	adoption.	
Conflict	About the (mostly) negative	" [junior staff] say this is ridiculous
	impact conflict can have on	why we're still doing it manually. But
	HCT adoption.	then you almost have this other layer of
		generation that is the opposite to that was
		pretty much saying to we've always done
		it this way. Why would we do so and so
		you're now stuck in between the two
		generations" - Marlon

Double-edged Sword of relationships Theme Description and Samples.

#### The double edge sword of relationships

The double-edged sword of relationships pertains to the interconnections among clinical staff, encompassing relationships within teams, among individuals, within organisations, and extending to governmental spheres typically through policy formulation or funding allocation. This theme embodies a dichotomy: when these relationships manifest positively, they tend to produce favourable effects on the adoption of HCT. Conversely, negative associations exert an adverse influence on technology adoption. In effect, the quality of relationships plays a dual role, either facilitating or hindering the adoption of technology in healthcare organisations. On an individual level, clinicians establish working relationships among themselves and with other people from different departments or organisations – sometimes going beyond working relationships. Expanding to a small group scale, teams form relationships with other teams – such as the interaction between an IT team and an intensive care unit (ICU) team, or the interplay between administrative and clinical teams. Zooming out to an organisational scale, healthcare institutions, such as hospitals or clinics, maintain associations not only with each other but also with various external entities, such as governmental bodies, funding agencies, and other allied healthcare services. Some of these relationships have a greater impact on technology adoption than others. For example, funding agencies need a sound business case to get technology through the door. As exampled by Clay: "[implementers] have to identify the need for improvement and have to prove very clear layout from the current state and future state, what difference it will make, and to make sure it is financially viable and robust". A few key relationships were noted by participants:

- Clinician Clinician
- Clinician team I.T Department
- Healthcare organisation Governmental bodies

- Technology developer Clinician
- Clinician Patient

These are the key relationships that can impede or facilitate HCT adoption. Clinician-toclinician relationships can impede technology adoption through feelings of expertise which trump the proposed efficacy of technology "*they genuinely believe that they knew better because they had years of experience*" – Jessie. However, they can facilitate it through honest and open, feedback as exampled by Jessie, "…People would challenge each other in a *hopefully reasonably respectful way to as part of a part of an observed clinical practice. and that that would sort of get those last few non-compliant staff over the line*". Here we can see that respect between clinicians can facilitate HCT adoption.

While honest and respectful relationships can facilitate adoption, conflict between clinicians can impede it. Conflict can arise when clinicians champion or use technology when others feel they can perform their role without it. Clinician to I.T. department relationships are also important especially if the technology is software based. Hostile or absent relationships mean that feedback is left unattended, and frustration emerges as software that could improve health outcomes is misused, underutilised, or ignored. For example, Randy explains: "…we just do not have proper or true interdisciplinary activity on things like the introduction of a new platform…" He goes on to explain: "…the technology space it's still victim to that is siloed thinking." Therefore, the lack of a positive relationship between disciplines is hindering HCT adoption.

#### Conflict

There is also a conflict of interest between different parties such as clinicians and executives, IT professionals, patients, and other clinicians. There are instances of medical devices which are introduced to an organisation which are used by some clinicians but not others. This can create tension and occasionally lead to conflict between parties. For example, there were instances of clinician conflict which are underpinned by the experience of clinicians. As illustrated by Jessie: "You would have your quite bolshie staff who had been there maybe three or four years challenging somebody with [over] 20 years of experience and that didn't go down so well." When technology is introduced, their colleagues who are new to the role and are in favour of the technology sometimes come into conflict with older, more experienced clinicians.

This is based on the dynamics of power, perceived expertise, and the hierarchical structure of roles in healthcare. Occasionally, healthy debate or feedback about technology occurs, however, relationships can become strained or awkward when clinicians feel their expertise or experience is questioned as highlighted by Jessie: "*So, there was a period of time I'd say probably about one to two years, where there was a bit of awkwardness around those who were adopting it and those who weren't*." Therefore, technology adoption behaviour itself could be a mediating factor in the quality of relationships between staff.

#### **Organisational relationships**

The dynamic between an organisation and its members warrants focus, particularly regarding the potential discord between clinicians and the organisation due to contentious policies or leadership decisions. For instance, a participant highlighted an organisational policy that imposed a cap on administrative funding, resulting in a situation where clinical staff were burdened with compensating for this shortfall. This was highlighted by Randy here: "*If you cut it off at the bottom like that, then you just force your higher paid workforce to do admin work they hate, it's ridiculous waste of money and no one can make any sense of policy, but there you have it.*". According to this participant, this led to a sense of resentment among clinicians, as it diverged from their primary professional focus. They found themselves unintentionally shouldering additional administrative responsibilities, causing

dissatisfaction and a sense of misalignment with their core clinical roles. This may impede HCT adoption through feeling overwhelmed with role saturation or becoming adversarial with decision-makers who may introduce the technology.

#### Co-design

If conflict is the shadow, co-design is the light. Relationships can enhance technology adoption when implementing or designing HCT. It seems critical that users are involved in the design and development process to facilitate HCT adoption. When doctors and nurses had input in the design and introduction of technology, outcomes seemed to be better in terms of acceptance, the technology being fit for purpose, and workflow. The relationship between developers and clinicians, it seems, should remain intimate.

"Things like the introduction of the new platform became an IT project right, it did not become an interdisciplinary project that involved... end users in a meaningful way..." – Randy.

Sometimes when introducing new technology, it seems that the position and capacity of team members can play a role in technology adoption. For instance, IT departments are heavily involved in rolling out, developing, and maintaining new software in hospitals and clinics. This is mentioned as a poor approach to technology integration due to their lack of work experience in clinical settings and the need to view technology integration as a change management exercise. As exampled by Randy here: "*It was approached as an IT project… but it was in fact a change management exercise.*", Jessie here: "*With any introduction of new technology, the change management process has to happen, alongside it otherwise it's just gonna fail.*", and Clay here: "*…to get buy in from staff and provide the proper change management is equally important [as financial risk].*". Therefore, the approach innovators take is a critical early decision and a lack of clinical experience, not communicating with

clinicians, and failing to establish change management practices a substantial barrier to HCT adoption.

It was clear from Randy, Jessie, and Clay, that this lack of clinical experience means the software which is used by clinicians is not fit for purpose or is poorly thought out. This could mean notes are handled more than once, information is duplicated across different systems, or information input is poorly optimized. There seems to be little in the way of feedback systems for clinicians to work with IT departments to fix or update any issues they regularly observe with the system. However, this was not always the case, and one interviewee mused about the past (15+ years) when doctors would engage with technicians and developers and provide input into the development of technology: "...and the doctors would drop into the workshop and say hey you know what's happening with this stuff. You have this kind of relationship at a customer level..." - Randy. This relationship seems to be lost or at least diminished which has seemed to reduce the quality of design and function of HCT according to participants. Other participants also saw this need for clinical voices in the development and implementation as critical for the success and adoption of HCT: "But we knew that in order for the technologies to be adopted, we had to have complete buy-in from the doctors. So, we had several of the doctors working on the project with us." - John. Thus, a close positive relationship between clinicians, developers, and IT departments can enhance the adoption of HCT through quality subject matter expertise which can lead to fewer troubles further on in the implementation phase and potentially lead to greater success of HCT adoption.

#### Theme 2: The nature of clinical work (NOCW)

# Table 3

Main	Description	
theme		
Nature of	This theme is about how the NOCW impacts	
Clinical	the adoption of novel technology. It's about	
Work	the pace of work, current issues in	
	healthcare, basic healthcare drives and the	
	need to consider workflow and load.	
Sub		
themes		Sample
Workflow	Existing ways of working can become an	"It's not the well, so it's not
	impediment to HCT adoption if the	that they didn't call for [the
	development/introduction of technology	technology]. It's just that a lot
	does not consider the current workflow.	of the times it doesn't actually
		fit the way that they work." –
		John.
Pace of	The pace of work in clinical settings is rapid	"The reality is obviously,
Work	<ul> <li>– clinicians are overworked and</li> </ul>	how, as an industry also
	understaffed. This means introducing	moves very quick, very
	novelty to the working environment can be	slowly in terms of the actual
	tricky. This rapid pace is juxtaposed with the	systems will move quickly
	rigidity and slow pace of governance and	into their equipment and
	multiple facts about the NOCW	of that but the natural IT
	multiple facts about the NOC w.	systems and clinical is very
		slow especially in public
		sector." – Marlon
		Sector: Infurion

The Nature of Clinical Work Theme Description and Samples

## *Nature of clinical work*

Clinical settings often face resource constraints, leading to overworked and burnt-out staff members. Despite these limitations, clinicians remain committed to providing highquality care. However, these constraints impact the adoption of HCT in several ways. One significant factor, often tied to the element of time, is the need for evidence that HCT is effective, safe, and does not disrupt care for patients, as illustrated by Clay: "*[about how long the process of HCT takes] It depends obviously on complexity of the project and evidence of the project...*" and Jessie: "*So yes, of course, if I want some new technology i'm going to have*  to prove that there's an evidence base behind it". The reality is that clinical spaces are not always ideal, with limited staff, resources, and time available. Therefore, technology adoption in clinical settings must be carefully considered to ensure it aligns with the primary objective of delivering effective, timely, and safe care. As evidenced by David here: "...a lot of the successful business cases for new technology have been based on reduction of risk, the fact that it will make treatments safer" and Jessie: "...unfortunately, in a district health board it is cost benefit, So if you can prove that a person is going to reduce the length of hospital stay, then they might [consider the technology]". As such, timeliness, safety, efficiency, and efficacy become important enablers for HCT adoption.

The standard healthcare workplace structure and design can also hinder HCT. Hierarchical structures tend to concentrate decision-making power in the hands of experienced staff, potentially impeding the input of newer members. Additionally, challenges may arise in communicating integration processes for new technology due to complex scheduling and rostering arrangements. Finally, time constraints exampled in this quote from Penny: *"I think we may have had one education session, but because I worked at [the]time, I never made it to that.*", further exacerbate the situation, making it challenging for clinicians to undergo training or learn new technologies effectively forcing staff to undergo extracurricular training or foregoing training altogether.

#### Workflow

In the context of adopting HCT, existing workflows play a crucial role. Many times, clinicians know best, about what they need from a piece of technology because they know exactly how it should fit into their workflow and what it should do as exampled by David: *"[A surgeon] wanted to try and improve the records for his own patients in his department and then since then it's been adopted by the by the whole the whole hospital*". This is an example of ground up development from clinicians fitting the technology to their context.

The impact of workflow is also exemplified in the shift from paper to digital records. When digital records and patient management systems were introduced, resistance from clinical staff was evident. While clinicians recognized the potential benefits of digital records, such as improved access and security, they often fixated on the drawbacks of change such as when Penny stated: "[about the technology] it's not one for each patient or workspace or anything like that, and then you've got to remember your password... I would just rather have carried on writing on a bit of paper frankly because it's quicker and easier.". Complaints about lugging a laptop to the bedside or the need to remember passwords were common. However, technology issues are not uniform across healthcare organisations, Penny went on to say: ...in town and Christchurch hospital, they have to do this for each workstation, so its not much of an issue there.". This suggests that resources have a substantial impact on the adoption of HCT.

These concerns were valid, but it is essential to recognize that overcoming these challenges brought several advantages. Digital records reduced the risk of lost records, enhanced information sharing among health professionals, improved data detail, and allowed clinicians to identify patient health trends. For example, Clay mentioned this about digital health records: "*When I get home, I can remotely access a computer and, basically, I can look…a patient up… like blood pressure, it would take 10 minutes, it was all portable, light, so I can access remotely from home… a pretty good technology*". Therefore, while some clinicians find certain technology cumbersome, others find great value in it. However, the transition from paper to digital records also highlights a critical point: new technology must align with existing workflows to be effective. For example, John said: "*It's not the well, so it's not that they didn't call for [the technology]. It's just that a lot of the times it doesn't actually fit the way that they work.*" Therefore, in the realm of HCT, the alignment of technology with the natural flow of work is a critical enabling factor.

If a HCT seamlessly integrates into the workflow and does not disrupt it, it is far more likely to be embraced by clinicians. However, when the adoption of HCT contradicts the established workflow, resistance is more likely. Workflow concerns highlight the importance of open, transparent, and effective communication between technology users, such as clinicians, and developers. As exampled by Marlon here: "*I guess the biggest enablers would be to do user testing with the client and understanding what the client's context is, or their environments. Because a lot of it is actually driven by behaviour and the environment that clients are in.*". When clinicians and developers work collaboratively to ensure that new technology complements the existing workflow, it paves the way for a smoother adoption process.

#### Pace of work

One prominent sentiment that emerged from discussions about barriers to HCT adoption was the challenge of reconciling the pace of work with the pace of governance. This issue is rooted in several driving factors that shape the adoption process.

First and foremost, healthcare agencies prioritize providing safe and effective care to patients. This emphasis on patient safety means that any new technology introduced must adhere to rigorous risk standards established by existing policies and regulations as explained by Marlon here: "...especially in health organizations, you find that everything is driven by risk and compliance. So, it's almost like we need to have all of these things to meet our risk and compliance regulations. When the reality is some of [the technology] is never used. And David here: "In radiotherapy specifically there's a very strong culture of careful commissioning of new equipment and calibration so on to minimize risk". Furthermore, compatibility with the current technology infrastructure within healthcare systems is essential, often necessitating extensive testing and validation. This process can be time-consuming, particularly for software technology such as patient management systems, which

may take many years to integrate effectively. For example, Marlon explained: "And the other problem that I've seen a lot as well is duplication on information being entered. So, if you're running two or three different multiple systems ... you're entering [information] almost three different times, like patient's name, or the data around conditions. Like duplication of information is insane, you'll be surprised. Then you will essentially have all these different databases holding all this information for the same patient, which is again, not connecting to each other." This may provide some insight into resistance to novel technology – if a new system or technology is introduced it may be seen by clinicians as time wasted or more work.

Paradoxically, the pace of clinical work is often extremely fast, driven by the urgency of treating time-critical illnesses and injuries. Clinicians must make swift and decisive decisions, while external pressures from governing bodies focus on reducing patient wait times, time spent in beds, and treatment delays. For example, John states: "*There's a lot of targets that we've got for the Ministry of Health around faster cancer treatments… the referrals on the paper forms was identified as a time waster… Basically, those six days were not useful for the patient at all. In so it started off as a time-saving initiative.*" Balancing these two contrasting demands presents a complex challenge in HCT adoption.

The analysis reveals the meticulous nature of clinicians in their work – risk was mentioned 30 separate times in the interviews. This emphasis on caution is further accentuated by the stringent risk management and compliance requirements imposed by most healthcare systems. The necessity for maintaining patient safety and data integrity underscores the importance of adhering to proven methods and adopting new technologies cautiously. However, the pace of clinicians' workday rubs against such governance providing a knotted tension and a key barrier.

#### Theme 3: The psychology of clinicians

# Table 4

The Psychology of CliniciansThe feelings, attitudes, biases, and cognition of clinicians about technology adoption.SampleSub themesSampleFearThis sub-theme pertains to the fear clinicians may feel when dealing with novel technology."[about reluctance to adoption] I think there's a few things so. One of them is fear.ChangeThis sub-theme is about the psychological mechanisms to be triggered when faced with novel HCT."I think a lot of it is just around fear of fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong, fear of departing with what's familiar." - JessieCognitive loadThis is about how cognitive load plays a role in influencing clinicians' willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT."There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope	Main theme	Description	
Psychology of Cliniciansbiases, and cognition of clinicians about technology adoption.SampleSub themesSampleFearThis sub-theme pertains to the fear clinicians may feel when dealing with novel technology."[about reluctance to adoption] I think there's a few things so. One of them is fear. Yeah, I think a lot of it is just around fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong, fear of departing with what's familiar." - JessieChangeThis sub-theme is about the psychological mechanisms behind change, which seem to be triggered when faced with novel HCT."I think a lot of it is just around fear of getting it wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking with what's familiar that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitive loadThis is about how cognitive influencing clinicians' willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT."There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope	The	The feelings, attitudes,	
of Cliniciansclinicians about technology adoption.Sub themesSampleFearThis sub-theme pertains to the fear clinicians may feel when dealing with novel technology."[about reluctance to adoption] I think there's a few things so. One of them is fear. Yeah, I think a lot of it is just around fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong, fear of departing with what's familiar." - JessieChangeThis sub-theme is about the psychological mechanisms behind change, which seem to be triggered when faced with novel HCT."I think a lot of it is just around fear of fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking with what's familiar that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitiveThis is about how cognitive load"There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope	Psychology	biases, and cognition of	
Sub themesSampleFearThis sub-theme pertains to the fear clinicians may feel when dealing with novel technology."[about reluctance to adoption] I think there's a few things so. One of them is fear. Yeah, I think a lot of it is just around fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong, fear of departing with what's familiar." - JessieChangeThis sub-theme is about the psychological mechanisms behind change, which seem to be triggered when faced with novel HCT."I think a lot of it is just around fear of fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking with what's familiar that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitiveThis is about how cognitive loadThis is about how cognitive load plays a role in influencing clinicians' willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – PenelopeTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope	of Clinicians	clinicians about technology	
Sub themesSampleFearThis sub-theme pertains to the fear clinicians may feel when dealing with novel technology."[about reluctance to adoption] I think there's a few things so. One of them is fear. Yeah, I think a lot of it is just around fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong, fear of departing with what's familiar." - JessieChangeThis sub-theme is about the psychological mechanisms behind change, which seem to be triggered when faced with novel HCT."I think a lot of it is just around fear of fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking with what's familiar that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitiveThis is about how cognitive load"There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope		adoption.	
FearThis sub-theme pertains to the fear clinicians may feel when dealing with novel technology."[about reluctance to adoption] I think there's a few things so. One of them is fear. Yeah, I think a lot of it is just around fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong, fear of departing with what's familiar." - JessieChangeThis sub-theme is about the psychological mechanisms behind change, which seem to be triggered when faced with novel HCT."I think a lot of it is just around fear of fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking with what's familiar that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitive loadThis is about how cognitive influencing clinicians' willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT."There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope	Sub themes		Sample
the fear clinicians may feel when dealing with novel technology.there's a few things so. One of them is fear. Yeah, I think a lot of it is just around fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong, fear of departing with what's familiar." - JessieChangeThis sub-theme is about the psychological mechanisms behind change, which seem to be triggered when faced with novel HCT."I think a lot of it is just around fear of fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking with what's familiar that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitiveThis is about how cognitive load"There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope	Fear	This sub-theme pertains to	"[about reluctance to adoption] I think
when dealing with novel technology.Yeah, I think a lot of it is just around fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong, fear of departing with what's familiar." - JessieChangeThis sub-theme is about the psychological mechanisms behind change, which seem to be triggered when faced with novel HCT."I think a lot of it is just around fear of fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking with what's familiar that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitiveThis is about how cognitive load"There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope		the fear clinicians may feel	there's a few things so. One of them is fear.
technology.change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong, fear of departing with what's familiar." - JessieChangeThis sub-theme is about the psychological mechanisms behind change, which seem to be triggered when faced with novel HCT."I think a lot of it is just around fear of fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking with what's familiar that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitiveThis is about how cognitive load"There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope		when dealing with novel	Yeah, I think a lot of it is just around fear of
Wrong, fear of departing with what's familiar." - JessieChangeThis sub-theme is about the psychological mechanisms behind change, which seem to be triggered when faced with novel HCT."I think a lot of it is just around fear of fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking with what's familiar that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitive loadThis is about how cognitive load plays a role in influencing clinicians' willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT."There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope		technology.	change, possibly but also fear of getting it
ChangeThis sub-theme is about the psychological mechanisms behind change, which seem to be triggered when faced with novel HCT.'I think a lot of it is just around fear of fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking with what's familiar that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitive loadThis is about how cognitive load plays a role in influencing clinicians' willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT."There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope			wrong, fear of departing with what's
ChangeThis sub-theme is about the psychological mechanisms behind change, which seem to be triggered when faced with novel HCT."I think a lot of it is just around fear of fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking with what's familiar that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitive loadThis is about how cognitive load plays a role in influencing clinicians' willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT."There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope			familiar." - Jessie
psychological mechanisms behind change, which seem to be triggered when faced with novel HCT.of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking with what's familiar that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitive loadThis is about how cognitive load plays a role in influencing clinicians' willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT."There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope	Change	This sub-theme is about the	"I think a lot of it is just around fear of fear
behind change, which seem to be triggered when faced with novel HCT.wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking with what's familiar that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitive loadThis is about how cognitive load plays a role in influencing clinicians' willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT."There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope		psychological mechanisms	of change, possibly but also fear of getting it
to be triggered when faced with novel HCT.with what's familiar that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitive loadThis is about how cognitive load plays a role in influencing clinicians' willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT."There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." - Penelope		behind change, which seem	wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking
with novel HCT.the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically." – JessieCognitiveThis is about how cognitive"There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope		to be triggered when faced	with what's familiar that's probably one of
Cognitive loadThis is about how cognitive load plays a role in influencing clinicians' willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT."There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." - Penelope		with novel HCT.	the bigger ones, and another one is time,
Cognitive loadThis is about how cognitive inducting clinicians' willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT."There is so much that these people have in the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." - Penelope			realistically." – Jessie
loadload plays a role in influencing clinicians' willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT.the heads worrying about patients worrying about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." - Penelope	Cognitive	This is about how cognitive	"There is so much that these people have in
<ul> <li>influencing clinicians' about what's gonna happen next, and all willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT.</li> <li>Technophobia</li> <li>Technophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT.</li> <li>about what's gonna happen next, and all these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - John</li> <li>"I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope</li> </ul>	load	load plays a role in	the heads worrying about patients worrying
willingness to adopt and learn novel HCT.these other things that we just need to try to reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." - Penelope		influencing clinicians'	about what's gonna happen next, and all
learn novel HCT.reduce the worries as much as possible." - JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." - Penelope		willingness to adopt and	these other things that we just need to try to
JohnTechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope		learn novel HCT.	reduce the worries as much as possible." -
TechnophobiaTechnophobia refers to the fear of technology and in this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT."I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies." – Penelope			John
fear of technology and in like they have a very, very hard time this instance, the fear which older clinicians may face when using novel HCT.	Technophobia	Technophobia refers to the	"I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel
this instance, the fear which adopting new technologies." – Penelope older clinicians may face when using novel HCT.		fear of technology and in	like they have a very, very hard time
older clinicians may face when using novel HCT.		this instance, the fear which	adopting new technologies." - Penelope
when using novel HCT.		older clinicians may face	
		when using novel HCT.	

The Psychology of Clinicians Theme Description and Samples

As the interviews were examined, a pervading theme was noticed – the psychology of clinicians. This refers to their thoughts, feelings, and behaviours. This theme consistently relates to and persists through, the different themes explored in this thesis. Instances, where personality differences among decision-makers and clinicians became hurdles in adopting HCT, were noted as impactful in some areas. For example, Jessie noted: "*It was that was a really difficult time and there was there was some challenges there, and you know, I guess, this is where individual team personalities can be problematic.*". Additionally, some interviewees also expressed feeling or witnessing fear or unease about new technology. Relatedly, notions of technophobia came up during these discussions, however, it was not clear whether they were founded. Finally, uncertainty about whether a piece of technology actually worked caused apprehension and anxiety among clinicians making apparent, the need for evidence of efficacy. This theme sheds light on how the mindset of healthcare staff can influence the integration of technology into their work.

## Fear of new technology

The fear and anxiety of some staff when it came to using the technology was apparent. Would the technology be safe? Would it help this patient? Would it help this patient better than what we were doing before? Will I be able to use the technology correctly? – these were some fears turned barriers that came through in the thematic analysis. For example, Jessie explained: "*I think a lot of [resistance] is just around fear of ... fear of change, possibly but also fear of getting it wrong fear of making a mistake, sticking with what's familiar ... that's probably one of the bigger ones, and another one is time, realistically.*". Based on this, trust in technology becomes apparent as a key motivator in using novel technology and from that, the need for explicit evidence that the technology is safe and works. Not surprising considering the cost of mistakes of poor practice in healthcare.

#### Personalities impacting adoption.

What was surprising is the impact personality and ego had on the uptake of technology – harken, for a moment, back to the conflict within the double-edged sword of relationships. Throughout the interviews, there were a variety of complaints and concerns about how other staff were behaving when it came to the adoption of technology. This involved instances such as disregarding clinical guidelines due to perceptions of one's ability and experience as superior to evidence, disregarding evidence to suit pre-conceptions, and changing the trajectory of policy or uptake due to a change in *who* is in the role. Randy explains here: "We've had a couple of years where just because of who you are, you're affecting how the organisation works for good or bad.". Disregarding, undermining, or otherwise questioning evidence came through in the interviews. This is likely connected to the concerns for patient safety flowing into anxiety around novel HCT. Another reason supported by the data is that clinicians feel their expertise is superior to the evidence presented. Jessie explains here: "Through part of that was the fact that it, you know they didn't feel the research had been peer reviewed adequately and part of that was that they genuinely believe that they knew better because they had years of experience and that their years of experience were being ignored in this process of changing.". Whether each instance of this is true or false, clinicians felt their expertise was being questioned which could be a frightening concept to some more senior clinicians considering the hierarchical structure. As such, enabling better HCT implementation could mean communicating between clinicians about their concerns and anxieties with novel technology.

## Change and Cognitive Load

Anxiety and apprehension with novel technology came through in the interviews, yet it was not necessarily technological anxiety that was at the heart of this barrier. Hesitation towards technological change rests on the fear of *change* itself. As Jessie explained: "*I think a*  *lot of [resistance] is just around fear of... fear of change*". Unlike some domains of work, people who work in healthcare tend to stay in healthcare for their entire career whether staying within their discipline or moving to more administrative or leadership roles. Therefore, change can be frightening when it disrupts or shatters existing, embedded, and enduring ways of working.

As alluded to in the first quote from Jessie, and in the NOCW, *time* plays a critical role in the uptake of HCT. It does this by limiting the hours clinicians have to learn, train, or play with novel technology. Often, the first time clinicians use a piece of technology is when they are working, and the technology needs to be used. This places cognitive strain on a workforce who ordinarily, already have a high cognitive load. As such, frustration at new technology is normal and anxiety when novel technology is placed in front of them is understandable. This anxiety is exemplified by Marlon talking about the transition from paper to digital records here: "…*And now it almost creates an anxiety in the user, that they have to fill out all the time to actually figure out, where's the pen in terms of the process*?" However, these are barriers which could be mitigated.

Importantly, encouraging the use of novel HCT one time is not enough, some participants noted their perseverance in getting clinicians to try it. For example, Jessie explains that "*People feel uncomfortable with [technology], and you have to you know re-offer training all the time and they have to remind them that it's you know not that hard to pull it out of the cupboard and have a go with it.*" This likely speaks to the cognitive load barrier, with clinicians unable to remember to use the technology, or it may be that it is not seen as important or beneficial in the short term because of the time it takes to learn and understand.
#### Technophobia

Connected to the anxiety and fear of technology is the notion of technophobia ostensibly presented in older clinicians. Individuals raised during the information age are perceived to encounter fewer technological challenges compared to those born in earlier generations. Exampled by Penny: "*I work with a lot of older nurses, and I feel like they have a very, very hard time adopting new technologies.*" And Randy here: "*So, you had combination of tabs and shortcut keys and mouse, and a digital native may have found that quite straightforward… They found they could handle it in a year that was the learning curve.*" There was some contention on this point because some interviewees dismissed this notion and believed that older generations were just as capable of accepting new technology. While others saw this as a real impediment to technology uptake.

# Theme 4: Culture and communication

# Table 5

Main theme	Description	
Culture and	About the impact of organisational	
communication	culture on adoption, the effects of	
	transparency, psychological safety,	
	accountability, and fostering a	
	learning culture. Additionally, it is	
	about communication surrounding	
	technology implementation, training,	
	efficacy, and technology	
	characteristics. And the difficulty	
	around communication with different	
	branches of a large healthcare	
	organisation.	
Sub themes		Sample
Transparency	This sub-theme is about the	"My manager would tell me,
	transparency of communication	there is a new there's a new
	between leadership and staff, and	product coming, then we would
	developers and organisation	receive information, then we
	members. We found it was often a	would need to do, training on it
	between leadership and staff, and developers and organisation members. We found it was often a	product coming, then we would receive information, then we would need to do, training on it

#### Culture and Communication Theme Description and Samples

	lack of transparency that led to confusion, angst, or frustration with	but yeah I don't really know who approves it." – Penelope
	НСТ.	approved in a consept
Clarity and frequency	This sub-theme relates to the issue clinicians face around the clarity and frequency of communication in the healthcare system. It is about getting the right message to the right people the right number of times.	"The biggest issue at the DHB as a whole is actually reaching all the layers of the organization for any communications channel, to the point where, you know, being here for three years, almost say whoever figures out how to reach every single person within the DHB via any channel of communication, and actually clearly communicate a message Will win a Nobel prize I guarantee you." – John
Feedback	This is about valuable feedback from clinicians and users to technology developers and implementers. And the need for these feedback channels.	"And I went through about half a dozen iterations with the doctors just getting the feedback while we were prototyping these things, just to make sure that we were actually achieving the needs really. And by the time we got to the prototyping phases, that basically released itself." – John
Social learning	This sub-theme is about how the NOCW often leads to clinicians teaching and learning from each other regarding HCT.	"So, then you just teach each other, basically, and pick it up" - Penelope

## Culture of Learning and Accountability

The culture of an organisation and whether it is orientated towards innovation and ready for change is critical to the adoption of HCT. Jessie explains that: "...*team culture, I think, is critical to adopting any change and be at technology or otherwise, I think. Yeah, you have to accept that.*". The cultivation of a learning culture revolves around instilling the values of continual learning, embracing innovation, sharing knowledge, and fostering ongoing skill development. Leadership figures play a pivotal role in promoting and upholding this culture within the workplace, while those in leadership positions embody, encourage, and

make these principles salient. This environment significantly facilitates technology adoption within healthcare organisations by affording clinicians the freedom to learn through their technological errors. It encourages openness and transparency about these mistakes, enabling thorough discussions on how they occurred and strategies to prevent their recurrence in the future.

Moreover, a culture of learning intertwines with a culture of accountability. Accountability involves not only acknowledging mistakes but also being forthcoming about their origins, regardless of the individual responsible. For example, Jessie, a professional clinical leader tells us about her style of leadership: "*My personal leadership style is to be really honest when I make mistakes, because I think that that can be really helpful for other people's learning*". This emphasis on accountability holds particular significance in the realm of technology adoption. Because, when leaders commit errors, this information becomes known among most clinicians, serving as a learning opportunity and a means to potentially avert similar mistakes in the future. Consequently, the risk of isolated errors accumulating without discussion, ultimately exacerbating into more significant issues, is mitigated through proactive acknowledgment and open dialogue in a timely fashion *when* it happens.

#### Transparency

Transparency was an important process that arose in the data. Transparency from leaders, transparency during the implementation process, and transparency from clinicians using the technology. As transparency is understood as part of accountability and learning culture (E.g., being honest with mistakes), it also stands on its own as an important factor. An example of the absence of transparency from Penny: "*My manager would tell me, there is a new there's a new product coming, then we would receive information, then... we would need to do, training on it... but yeah I don't really know who approves it.*" It is important for learning and accountability for knowing what not to do, what may go wrong, and how

colleagues delt with problems. Moreover, it is directly important for technology implementation for similar reasons.

# Clarity and frequency of communication

Reiterating the importance of communication, clarity stands out as a crucial aspect. This refers to the transparency and comprehensibility of a message, gauging its effective understanding by the intended recipients. The hindrance to clarity often arises when there is a deficiency in communication regarding a technology rollout, such as relying solely on methods like email or posting notices on staff room bulletin boards. This is exemplified by John's declaration here: *"The biggest issue is... reaching all the layers of the organisation for any communications channel to the point where... whoever figures out how to reach every single person within the DHB... and clearly communicates a message... Will win a novel prize I guarantee you.*" To optimize clarity, messages should be succinct, straightforward, and easily digestible, minimizing the time clinicians need to invest in comprehension. As John points out above, reaching all layers of an organisation is a difficult task and healthcare organisations specifically can have unique challenges such as shift workers, busy staff, and a sometimes chaotic workplace.

Conversely, clarity can be bolstered by utilizing a diverse array of communication channels frequently. However, a delicate balance is necessary to avoid overwhelming clinicians with an excess of information. In addressing this challenge, some healthcare organisations implement an in-house communication service. This service allows clinicians to receive pertinent messages on critical updates or discussions, ensuring the right information reaches the right individuals without inundating them with unnecessary information. The objective is not to inundate every clinician with exhaustive information but to precisely convey relevant information to specific recipients. "...The trouble is that...at the hospital uses notifications to communicate, so I can't just turn them off and yet I'm constantly sort of every few minutes I have a little window pop up say, and it may be a conversation related to or completely unrelated to what my work is so it's a distraction" – David.

#### Feedback on tech

During the interviews, it was clear that understanding the needs of clinicians, their environmental needs, and the needs of the systems they work with was particularly important to the uptake and adoption of HCT. One achievable way participants pointed to, to understand these aspects was feedback which is exampled by John here: "*I went through about half a dozen iterations with the doctors just getting the feedback all the time, while we were prototyping these things, just to make sure that we were actually achieving the needs really.*" This means engaging with clinicians to figure out for developers, change management, and leadership, what concerns clinicians have with certain HCTs or improvements which could be made to enhance uptake or use.

# Theme 5: Training

### Table 6

Main theme	Description	
Training	This theme is about the	
	capacity, willingness, and	
	feasibility of clinicians to learn	
	how to use HCT.	
Sub themes		Sample
Time	This sub-theme is about the lack	"We all feel that we don't have enough
	of time clinicians possess to	time, I suppose, like many different
	complete formal training.	professions and so there's resentment if
		we have to spend time to get to learn
		something" – David
Social	This sub-theme is about the	"So then it's just you just teach each
learning	seemingly ubiquitous standard	other, basically and pick it up and you

#### Training Theme Description and Samples

	of learning how to use technology from fellow clinicians.	find that when you've done something wrong the wrong way like it we didn't really have a very good introduction to it at all it's just that's what we do and we just help each other, and you know you can get through it, but it's probably not smoothest way and it's quite time consuming" - Penelope
Learning and use autonomy	This sub-theme is about the resulting situation most clinicians find themselves in when it comes to learning novel HCT. They need to be able to learn and use HCT at their own pace, in their own manner.	"As I continue to work with operational teams to see what they're doing with Microsoft teams by themselves undirected by anyone and unhindered by anyone some of the process work is really, really good then [clinicians] only need to be shown a few kind of examples of what it can do, and [clinicians] go 'oh that's really interesting'." - Randy

# Training

This theme reflects one of the more concrete barriers and enablers of HCT adoption. Namely, the discrepancy between how much time is needed to learn to use novel technology, and the amount of time available to clinicians. This theme has many links to other themes discussed in this paper and was almost subsumed into 'the nature of clinical work'. However, I reasoned that it was unique enough to warrant its own theme and was mentioned by six of the eight participants. This theme explains the unfortunate reality of why social learning underpins clinical learning of HCT. Additionally, the NOCW, (e.g., shift work, rostering systems, and emergencies.) proves to be difficult in arranging comprehensive training sessions or even communicating information about training to clinicians. Regardless of its connections, time and training itself proves to be a barrier and potential enabler to technology adoption in healthcare.

Training provided by healthcare organisations is observed in the data as online and offered in person. The latter could potentially be more beneficial to clinicians because they

may be provided with the technology itself, to practice with it. However, online training modules provide the benefit of being flexible and with time constraints being an obstacle, seems appropriate for some clinicians. These are provided live or as recorded videos, usually with accompanying documents and learning exercises that count towards professional development. As Penny explains: "[about where they do training] our learning website where we do all of our courses, it's usually on there". David's viewpoint accentuated the relationship between the intuitiveness of technology and clinicians' training needs here: "And I think the thing about the tablets was it was very intuitive so we don't really need any training, it was just like using a normal pencil on a on a piece of paper, and so we could just outline things, and it was, I think the fact that it was very intuitive was what made it so successful". Specifically, the incorporation of tablets with touch screen capabilities meant minimal training, owing to the small functional disparity between traditional pencil-andpaper methods and tablet form completion. Comparatively, the introduction of workstations with mouse and keyboard, prompted clinicians to seek familiar elements, raising questions about where the pencil is in the process. This observation highlights the substantial influence of technological design on seamless integration into clinical workflows, underscoring the significance of intuitive interfaces in mitigating training demands and saving time.

#### Time

The lack of time clinicians had to train with novel pieces of technology was an apparent barrier to HCT adoption. Moreover, the current state of training (e.g., social learning, autonomous, and lack of formal training) means it becomes time-consuming to learn 'on the job', the time organisations think they may be saving by minimizing training sessions flows into the role and clinical tasks. As Randy highlights: "*They found they could handle [the software] in a year but that's the learning curve...*". Here we see the time it can take to learn new software. While this has been cited by participants as an enabler in some cases, this

form of on-site training can induce undue stress and anxiety hindering HCT adoption. Moreover, teaching each other means clinicians need to take time out of their primary roles to help other clinicians understand how to use a piece of technology further exacerbating work demands and placing undue stress on clinicians. Furthermore, clinicians may only find out they have been doing something wrong with the technology when another clinician points it out, potentially leading to an increase in fear of using novel HCT.

As Penny highlights, this kind of learning and introduction to technology can be timeconsuming, burdensome, and unwieldy: "So then it's just you just teach each other, basically and pick it up and you find that when you've done something wrong the wrong way like it we didn't really have a very good introduction to it at all it's just... that's what we do and we just help each other, and you know you can get through it, but it's probably not smoothest way and it's quite time consuming". The result of having limited time and opportunities to complete training on HCT meant that clinicians felt they were underprepared when faced with some HCT. Finally, David mentioned that feelings of resentment were common because when they needed to complete training, it isolated them from their professional workload: "We all feel that we don't have enough time, I suppose, like many different professions and so there's resentment if we have to spend time to get to learn something". Therefore, further investigation is needed to understand where the majority of resistance is coming from – the nature of work or clinicians themselves?

#### Social Learning

A noteworthy aspect of training is the situation most clinicians find themselves in, namely, that inadequate time for training in new technology leads to a necessary social learning culture. Social learning is observed as clinicians informally learn tips and techniques from other clinicians using technology. Penny explains why here: "*You just get told [tech implementation] is going to happen, and I think we may have had one education session, but*  because I worked at the time, I never made it to that. So, then it's just you just teach each other...". Poor training time allocation means that clinicians need to learn from each other how to use novel technology.

# *Learning and use autonomy*

Learning and use autonomy as an aspect of training and time is about affording clinicians the space, grace, and time to learn how to use technology on their own. This was a barrier and an enabler of HCT adoption, it means allowing clinicians to learn at their own pace and work out kinks or tricks with the technology. Jessie reflects on the introduction of a novel piece of HCT: "...quite a lot more experiential learning I guess happened as a result of using [the technology].". Although, as with social learning, it seems to be the result of a lack of time allocated for hands-on, person-to-person training. Learning and use autonomy also can become important for figuring out how novel HCT can be integrated into current workflows by clinicians themselves, sometimes unintended by developers. For example, Randy tells us: "As I continue to work with operational teams to see what they're doing with Microsoft teams by themselves undirected by anyone and unhindered by anyone... some of the process work is really, really good... then [clinicians] only need to be shown a few kind of examples of what it can do, and [clinicians] go 'oh that's really interesting'.". This is a positive example of giving clinicians the autonomy to use a piece of software to meet their ends through self-direction and creativity. However, this laissez-faire approach to technological training ostensibly increases the risk of errors, mistakes, and short-cuts.

#### Theme 6: Technology Characteristics

#### Table 7

Technology Characteristics Theme Description and Samples Description

Main theme

Technology	This theme is about usability,	"So as an example, there was a
characteristics	ease of use, and other	referral system, which, probably
	characteristics that improve or	about five years or so ago, one of
	hinder HCT adoption.	the, one of the surgeons I was
		working with, was asked to test and
		he absolutely savaged it because it
		just he was struggling to log on to
		us. And he's an intelligent person,
		and he just thought that this was
		getting in the way of him to actually
		do his job. With the thing is, with all
		of the technology, we just need to
		keep it simple" - John

This theme receives comparatively less emphasis than others as it falls outside the socio-organisational focus of this thesis. Additionally, the impact of technology characteristics on adoption has been extensively explored in existing research (Kijsanayotin et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2015; De Veer et al., 2015). However, it does warrant a theme in this analysis because participants discussed the need for specific technology characteristics when considering the enablers and barriers of HCT adoption. For example, Randy tells us: "yeah, it's not made visible within the [health information technology] system where the opportunities to understand If equity issues that arise or could arise, or to be able to prevent it [are not visible]. Now we'll get there, but it's just not quick or easy or adaptive.". Here we can observe that an opportunity to use software to further health outcomes for patients is not being met due to the complexity of the software. On the other hand, John makes this statement about replacing referral systems: "they [had] a dictation system which they [typed it out] then they have to automatically approve the letter that literally gets printed out and sent to the receiving department. Now, that was taking an average of about six days, which was basically a communication from one office to another office. And so, we were replacing it with something which was, which was easy for them to use.". This examples how the ease of use of a technology can enhance healthcare practices and if not present, can hinder it.

#### **Study 1 Discussion**

#### The double-edged sword of relationships.

The double-edged sword of relationship theme illuminates the web of relationships that permeate healthcare organisations, spinning from individual clinician interactions to broader organisational and governmental connections. On an individual level, clinician-toclinician relationships showcase both impediments and enablers, where conflicts arising from perceived expertise may impede facilitation. The relationships between clinicians can also be strained from championing interventions such as technology introduction if negativity is expressed to the champion by other clinicians (McCormack et al., 2013a). This suggests that championing new technology may come at a social cost for some clinicians. Relationships with the IT department emerge as critical, impacting the feedback on software-based technology while, conflict of interest among different stakeholders, such as clinicians, executives, IT departments, and patients, adds an additional layer of complexity.

The interviews revealed conflicts arising from contentious policies and leadership decisions, influencing the overall environment for technology adoption. Notably, the codesign approach and clinician involvement in technology development stand out as positive influences on HCT adoption. Research suggests that feedback and end-user participation in the development of new technology are fundamental to the success and alignment of the technology in and with the workplace (Ghulam Sarwar Shah & Robinson, 2006; Bernstein et al., 2007; Kushniruk, & Nøhr, 2016). However, a shift from collaborative interdisciplinary projects to IT-centric approaches has led to misalignment and inefficiencies cementing the lost connection between clinical experience and technology design which has potentially resulted in muted technology and noisy clinicians. To shift from an IT-centred implementation to a change management or user-focused implementation healthcare organisations must understand that technology should fit the work environment and conform to user needs, not the other way around.

## Culture and communication.

The thematic analysis underscores the importance of an innovation-oriented organisational culture and leadership in the adoption of HCT. Jessie's insights highlight the critical role of a learning culture that embraces continuous improvement, innovation, and skill development—values that are significantly shaped by leadership (Schein, 2010). Leaders not only embody these principles but also actively promote them, creating an environment conducive to learning from mistakes and fostering transparency (Kucharska & Bedford, 2020). This leadership style, emphasizing honesty and accountability, facilitates an open dialogue about errors, potentially enhancing the technology adoption process (Bennis et al., 2008). Moreover, the analysis points to the necessity of clear and consistent communication to overcome barriers presented by organisational complexity and to ensure effective technology implementation. Communication is an integral part of Kotter's (1996) eight step process for leading change. Specifically, ensuring clear and compelling communication about innovations and change mean the process will likely cause less effort in the long-term. Therefore, engaging clinicians through feedback and tailoring training to align with organisational goals are identified as essential strategies for smoothing the adoption and integration of HCT into clinical practice. Ultimately, the success of HCT adoption is linked to a supportive organisational culture that prioritizes innovation, learning, and accountability, underpinned by effective leadership and transparent communication.

#### Nature of clinical work.

There may be a misunderstanding in how researchers approach healthcare organisations which explains how models discussed in the literature review do not conform to different contexts and a one-size-fits-all all approach is misguided. Kernick (2002) explores the complexity of healthcare organisations and suggests that models are too stringent to be applied to healthcare organisations because they should be viewed as ecosystems rather than static rational machines. For example, changing the quality of workflow, training, or introducing novel HCT will have unintended consequences that flow into the rest of the ecosystem. This notion is supported by Harrison et al. (2007) who find that the interaction between introducing HCT to a healthcare organisation and its workflows, culture, social interactions, and other technologies can create unwanted or unintended consequences. For example, when nurses facing substantial workloads encounter complex software that requires the use of multiple screens for medication administration, a common response is to postpone the documentation of medication administration until the end of their shifts (Harrison et al., 2007). This unofficial practice can result in inaccuracies in recording medication timings and quantities, unnecessary duplication of prescriptions, decreased efficiency in communication between physicians and nurses, and compromised effectiveness of safety checks integrated into the software (Koppel et al., 2005). This illustrates the complexity of the NOCW, the difficulties in introducing technology successfully, and the importance of understanding the ecosystem of the healthcare organisation.

One finding from the thematic analysis was the need for HCT to align with the workflow of clinicians. There is a plethora of research aimed at understanding how HCT can be integrated into healthcare organisation workflows (e.g., Lawler et al., 2011; Carayon et al., 2015; Bayramzadeh & Aghaei, 2021). Findings from human factors research reflect the findings in study one. For example, poor technology implementation can disrupt staff and impede patient care, and inefficient implementation disrupts workflow and effective teamwork, and can increase risk to patients (Bayramzadeh & Aghaei, 2021). HCT implementers and developers need to be aware of the context in which the technology is

embedded. One example of the disunity between HCT and workflow comes from Istanbul, where there is a culture of writing notes on paper towels (a readily available tool) because the electronic health records are unable to keep up with the workflow (Gonzales et al., 2015). This illustrates how HCT needs to be able to fit with the clinical pace of work. To do this, as outlined in the previous section, co-design principles and effective communication are key during the development and implementation stages.

The pace of work also came through in the findings and the paradoxical context of having a fast-paced work environment with an extremely slow governance system. With the recent COVID-19 pandemic, healthcare workers had to adopt new ways of working with patients which included technologies such as telehealth. For example, in Canada, telehealth (video consultation) jumped from 4% to 60% of primary care visits during the pandemics beginning (Glauser, 2020). This shows a rapid acceptance of technology while under immense pressure and increased workload. However, the rapid acceptance of telehealth was immediately necessary and involuntary. In other words, clinicians could not resist it. Technologies such as new patient management systems and condition testing technologies are different. The implementation of non-immediate HCT generally requires many years (Clark et al., 2019) and from our findings can exceed 10 years. Therefore, clinicians may see some novel HCT as unimportant, too difficult to learn, or merely unaware it exists due to their busy work environment and high cognitive load.

#### Training

From the results of the thematic analysis training presents itself within the nature of clinical work as underutilised due to poor time availability, the nature of shift work, and trouble with communicating effectively to the wider clinician population. The challenging theme of training proves to be a critical barrier in HCT adoption. The persistent discrepancy

between clinicians' learning needs and limited time availability is intricately woven into various elements, including the NOCW, cognitive load, and social learning. The emphasis on training methods underscores the vital role of intuitive technology design (Lehane, 2019), while the autonomy in learning and use presents a dual aspect as both a barrier and an enabler.

The autonomy in learning and use might produce downstream anxiety and stress for users. Informal learning increases the risk of stress in the work environment as well as making relationships disharmonious (Kazi, 2008). This on-the-job learning approach, while occasionally beneficial, introduces stress, highlighting the nuanced and multifaceted nature of the themes explored in this thesis. Formal training has the benefit of having specific desired outcomes that can be tailored to a workflow which means that trained clinicians should know how a certain technology can enhance their work (Chen & Klimoski, 2007). Moreover, formal training can be used to strategically align the desired outcomes of the training with organisational goals (Noe & Ellingson, 2017). For example, if a hospital desired to collect data for a specific condition, it could tailor training with their patient management systems for clinicians. However, informal learning and autonomy of use tend to be status quo across many organisations (Bear et al., 2008) and as discussed in the results, role saturation is becoming an issue for clinicians exacerbated by continuously introducing novel technology (Straub, 2009). Therefore, clinicians can quickly become overwhelmed with novel HCT especially if they are learning informally. As such, finding time to train formally should be a priority of healthcare organisations.

In cases where persistent feelings of being overwhelmed endure, technostress – a concept introduced by Brod (1984) – emerges as a condition of adaptation stemming from an incapacity to cope with new computer technologies. This concept may elucidate why clinicians experience a sense of overwhelm in the context of HCT. Technostress is

exacerbated by external stressors, including physical, psychosocial, and organisational stressors (Sethi, 1985). Considering the context of underfunding, overworking, and high stress, healthcare workers are extremely susceptible to technostress furthering the case for allocated formal training time.

# **Psychology of clinicians**

During the late 20<sup>th</sup> century, researchers such as Kling (1996), Brod (1984), and Frankenhaeuser & Johansson (1986) directed attention to the potential adverse effects of workplace computerization. This concern reflected apprehensions regarding how technology could, a) encroach upon work processes, b) pose risks to the well-being of workers, and c) potentially lead to the displacement of workers altogether. Interestingly, during this period, a study on the computerization of hospitals found that six themes emerged when nurses were asked what it was about computerization affected them the most (Adaskin et al., 1994). These were 1. Time-frame, 2. Choice of software, 3. Communication, 4. The change process, 5. Training, and 6. Leadership. Over three decades, it appears that the requirements of clinicians have exhibited relatively little change.

Fear of change and fear of general technology (technophobia) were present in the results and align with current research, although fear of being replaced was not an issue in the findings which arise elsewhere (Koivunen & Saranto, 2018). Anxiety towards novel HCT was a large contributor to the psychology of clinicians and is supported by the literature (Kjerulff et al., 1992). Interestingly however, Kjerulff et al. (1992) clinicians who experienced higher levels of technological anxiety exhibited less favourable attitudes toward computers, reported heightened stress in their work environment, demonstrated lower levels of job satisfaction, and expressed fewer positive sentiments toward the physicians they worked with. From this comparative study, it is difficult to determine what direction the cause is. It could be that lower levels of satisfaction with work, heightened stress from work, and poor relationships with their peers are causing the anxiety towards technology. Therefore, this notion is explored in study two.

#### Study 2

#### **Introduction and Rational**

This study employs a survey research methodology to examine the interplay, empirically, between perceptions of the importance of socio-organisational factors and other variables influencing the attitudes and themes explored and found in study one. Survey research is instrumental in elucidating the prevalence, distribution, and interrelationships of psychosocial and organisational variables deployed in this research (Kerlinger & Lee, 2000). The research questions answered in this study are:

RQ2 = What are the socio-organisational factors important for HCT adoption?

RQ3 = What is the relationship between the perceived importance of socio-organisational factors and HCT adoption?

Importantly, the assessment of HCT adoption attitudes and intentions involves two distinct self-report measures: self-reported importance which is how factors important for adoption are operationalised for RQ2 (e.g., *Please rate how important these factors are in determining whether or not you use new medical technology: I was involved in the selection of the technology*) and perceptions concerning the workplace environment (e.g., *Thinking about your current organisation in general; My organisation has been successful in implementing new technologies*). Survey methodology is aptly suited for situations where perceptual measures more accurately capture real-world dynamics than objective measures (Melone,

1990; Rahman et al., 2016). As such, this survey methodology dovetails seamlessly with study one's thematic analysis, which was grounded in a critical reality approach.

The items present in the survey reflect the findings from study one. For example, the identification of the training theme and subsequent enablers and barriers surrounding training meant questions asking participants to rate the importance of training effectiveness were included. Likewise, lack of time was identified as a substantial barrier. Therefore, participants were asked how important it is that they have sufficient time to learn how to use the technology. The purpose of the importance questions was to gather data on the views of clinicians as to what barriers and enablers they see as most important in determining whether they use new HCT and to answer research question two.

Considering the first study, mixed methods lend itself to the overall research project by helping to increase the rigour and richness of findings overall by affording participants more voice, a deeper look at the data, and the ability to compare and contrast across study one and two (Coyle & Williams, 2000; Shorten & Smith, 2017). Furthermore, this thesis employs a sequential mixed methods exploratory design, which is constituted of two phases. The first phase where the quantitative analysis provided the grounds (general barriers and enablers of HCT adoption) for the second quantitative phase where a more precise focus on the identified barriers and enablers was employed by narrowing down barriers and enablers into items and then into composites or factors reflecting the themes. The emphasis is on the flow of information gathered between studies.

# **Study 2 Methods**

## **Participants**

Participants were recruited using snowball and convenience sampling methods over four months during 2023 (see Appendix F for survey advertisement) using word of mouth and social media platforms (Facebook, LinkedIn, and Health Informatics New Zealand). In total 118 participants responded to the survey with 90 participants completing the entire survey. The average age was 38 (SD = 12.43, Range: 22 – 72 years). The sample was 76% female, 22% male, 1% other, and 1% preferred not to say. Participants job roles were 26.5% nurses, 12% doctors, 10.8% physiotherapists, 6% midwives, and 44.7% were other various healthcare professionals. The average tenure for the current positions of each participant was 6 years (SD = 7.64, Range = .5 - 32). All analyses were performed using Jamovi statistical software (version 2.3.28).

#### Procedure

The survey was created with Qualtrics, see Appendix E for the information letter and Appendix G for the materials used in the survey. We administered eighteen questions to gauge how important the socio-organisational factors and their components, identified in the first study, were perceived to be in determining whether participants used new HCT. Each question was prefaced with the prompt; "Please rate how *important* these factors are in determining whether or not you use new medical technology:". Each response scale was a 5-point Likert scale with 1 = Not important at all, 2 = Slightly important, 3 = Moderately important, 4 = Very important, and 5 = Extremely important. Additionally, another two workplace environment items aimed at feelings of anxiety towards new HCT, and perceptions of respective organisation implementation success were asked.

The six themes were operationalized into factors by the authors by deductively choosing the best item-theme fit to ensure content validity. This was done by creating composites in Jamovi based on chosen items. However, many of the factors' internal validity were not adequate; culture and communication (a = .41), NOCW (a = .44), clinician perspectives (a = .50), and technology characteristics (a = .40). Therefore, it was decided to use single items based on face validity to represent these factors instead (Fisher et al., 2016). Therefore, culture and communication were separated from a single composite into two distinct factors – culture *and* communication. The two factors which displayed adequate internal validity (DESOR and training) remained as composites.

### Measures

The factor compositions can be found in Table 8 immediately after this section and are highlighted if they are based on importance items or work environment items (I = importance, W = work environment). A higher rating on DESOR, culture, communication, NOCW, technology characteristics, and training means that participants perceived these factors to be important in determining whether they use novel HCT. A higher rating on clinician perspectives means healthcare professionals are less anxious about new HCT. A higher rating on successful adoption means healthcare professionals perceive their workplace to be successful at implementing novel HCT.

#### Double-edged sword of relationships (DESOR)

The double-edged sword of relationships was assessed using four items. Each item was generated by the authors. Cronbach's alpha for this composite was  $\alpha = .77$ .

# Culture

Culture was assessed using one item which was generated from the Study 1 interview data.

#### **Communication**

Communication was assessed using one item. The item was modified from Matheson's (1991) subjective norm measure about novel technology use.

#### The nature of clinical work (NOCW)

The nature of clinical work was assessed using one item which was developed from Study 1 interview results.

# Training

The training factor was assessed using three items. One item was adapted from Schmidt's (2007) training satisfaction scale and the other two were crafted by the authors using interview results. Cronbach's alpha for this composite was  $\alpha = .67$ .

# Technology characteristics

Technology characteristics was assessed using a single item which was crafted by the authors from interview data.

# **Clinician perspectives**

Clinician perspectives were assessed using one item which was adapted from Holt et al's. (2007) readiness for organisational change scale. Note that clinician perspectives are not present in RQ2 (What are the socio-organisational factors are important for HCT adoption?) because the items comprising this factor are not importance ratings.

# Successful adoption

Successful adoption of HCT was assessed using a single item. This item was adapted from Dabić et al's (2019) innovation culture scale.

# Table 8

Construct	Items	Reference
The double-edged sword of	"I was involved in the selection of the technology."	
relationships (1)		
	"I was involved in the development of the	
	technology."	
	"My patients' whanau like the technology."	
	"My patients like the technology."	
Nature of clinical work (I)	"The technology improves my patients' outcomes."	
Culture (I)	"My supervisors consistently support the use of the	
	technology."	
Communication (I)	"There is effective communication about the technology roll-out."	
Training (I)	"The training to use the technology is effective."	Schmidt, 2007
	"There is sufficient time to learn how to use the	NIOSH,
	technology."	2021
	"There is sufficient time to integrate technology into	NIOSH,
	work processes."	2021
Technology	"The technology is easy to use."	
characteristics (I)		
Clinician	"I feel anxious when I work with new technologies."	
perspectives (W)		
Successful	"My organisation has been successful in implementing	Dabić et al.
adoption (W)	new technologies."	(2019)

Construct Item Composition and References

# Analyses

# Research Question 2: What are the socio-organisational factors important for HCT adoption?

Each composite mean was taken as the importance rating of the corresponding factor

and a descriptive analysis was performed. However, a more detailed descriptive analysis of

the means was performed at the item level to discover which items in particular were

perceived as important for HCT use.

# Research Question 3: What is the relationship between perceived importance of socioorganisational factors and HCT adoption?

To answer research question three (what is the relationship between perceived importance of socio-organisational factors and HCT adoption?) the factors discovered in Study 1 were analysed to discover their relationship with successful technology adoption. Specifically, two regressions were performed. Firstly, simple descriptives and correlation analyses were performed. Secondly, a hierarchical regression was performed with technology characteristics and clinician perspectives in the first block with DESOR, NOCW, culture, communication, and training in the second block. Successful adoption was the dependent variable.

In addition, I have previously discussed how the impact of the nature of work and training context affects the stress and technostress of clinicians. I have made the case that these factors impact the anxiety, fear, and potential technophobia found in clinicians. Importantly, anxiety, fear, and technophobia impact negatively on clinician intention to use and adopt technology (Kjerulff et al., 1992; Koivunen & Saranto, 2018). Therefore, a multiple regression aimed at answering if the socio-organisational factors predicted clinician perspectives was performed with DESOR, NOCW, culture, communication, and training as predictors with clinician perspectives as the dependent variable.

# **Study 2 Results**

# *Research question 2: What are the socio-organisational factors important for HCT adoption?*

The variables in Table 8 are the importance descriptives surrounding whether participants find these factors important in determining novel HCT use. Table 8 also provides the factors used in the analysis, their means, standard deviations, and correlations, note that \*p = <.05, \*\*p = <.01, and \*\*\*p = <.001. The double-edged sword of relationships was moderately positively correlated with successful adoption and was significant at p = .005.

# Table 9

Descriptive and Correlation Table of Constructs Used in RQ2

	Variables	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	DESOR	2.77	0.90							
2	NOCW	4.50	0.76	.290 **						
3	Culture	3.97	0.96	.283 **	.253*					
4	Communicati on	4.10	0.92	.239 *	.132	.379** *				
5	Training	4.21	0.64	.233 *	.286* *	.360** *	.592* **			
6	Technology characteristics	4.24	0.77	.175	.324* *	.248*	.196	.445* **		
7	Clinician perspectives	3.57	1.19	04	157	221*	122	268*	237*	
8	Successful adoption	3.55	1.07	.309 **	.162	.183	.198	.114	.251*	162

p = p < .05; m = p < .01; m = p < .001

Firstly, the factor that was perceived to be the most important in determining whether health professionals use novel technology was the nature of clinical work. Whereas the perceived least important for determining technology use was the double-edged sword of relationships. Technology characteristics, communication, and training were also perceived to be important for determining novel technology adoption.

Secondly, a closer look at the items shows the most important enabler for health professionals was whether the technology improves patient outcomes with the least important being that they were involved in the selection of the technology. The item with the most variation from clinicians was on whether the patient's whānau liked the technology with being involved in the selection process, being involved in the development process, costeffectiveness, and patients liking the technology all having similar standard deviations. The item with the least variation was physical access to the technology.

# Research Question 3: What is the relationship between perceived importance of socioorganisational factors and HCT adoption?

To test if perceptions of importance for socio-organisational factors determining HCT use predicted clinician perspectives a multiple regression was conducted (Table 9) with DESOR, NOCW, culture, communication, and training as the predictors. Durbin-Watson test for autocorrelation indicates that there is no serious violation, d = 1.67, p = .100 (Field, 2009). All variables had a VIF value of < 2.5 indicating no collinearity (Johnston et al., 2018). Q-Q plot showed a normal distribution of residual errors, and the fitted residual plot was randomly scattered. Overall, the results showed the model was approaching significance with the DESOR (which was significant) trending the model towards significance. Moreover, the DESOR accounted for a moderate amount of variance explained by the model.

#### Table 10

	Clinician perspectives		
	B (SE)	( <i>p</i> )	
Intercept	1.62 (.93)	.085	
DESOR	.28 (.14)	.044	
NOCW	.13 (.16)	.434	
Culture	.12 (.14)	.395	
Communication	.20 (.16)	.236	
Training	17 (.24)	.471	
Overall F	F(5,77) = 2.26, p = .057	7	
Adjusted <i>R</i> <sup>2</sup>	.07, p = .057		

*Multiple Regression Analysis For Socio-Organisational Factors Predicting Clinician Perspectives* 

To test the additional predictions, a hierarchical regression was conducted with two blocks. The first block consisted of technology characteristics and clinician perspectives as the predictors. The second block contained the perceived importance of socio-organisational factors determining adoption with successful implementation as the dependent variable. All variables had a VIF value of < 2.5 indicating that no considerable collinearity exists in the model (Johnston et al., 2018). The standardized residual plot showed a normal distribution of residual errors. However, the fitted residual plot was not randomly scattered suggesting a violation of the assumption of linearity. Durbin-Watson test for autocorrelation indicates that there is no serious autocorrelation, d = 1.67, p = .070 (Field, 2009).

Overall, the results showed in Table 10 that the first model was significant.

Technology characteristics accounted for very little of the variance in successful adoption. However, when the socio-organisational factors were included, the second model showed a modest improvement becoming significant and accounting for more variance. Overall, when technology characteristics and clinician perspectives were included in the model, it explained 6% of the variance, including socio-organisational factors the second model accounted for 17% of the variance. The second model is significant, partly because DESOR is trending. Moreover, the change in  $R^2$  was significant with a 12% increase in variance accounted for.

#### Table 11

		Successful adoption					
Predictors	B (SE)	β	t	р			
Step 1							
Tech characteristics	.28 (.16)	.21	1.90	.06			
Clinician perspectives	08 (.09)	08	81	.419			
$R^2 = .06, F(2, 80) = 2$	.54, p = .085						
Step 2							
NOCW	.07 (.16)	.05	.45	.657			
Culture	.09 (.14)	.08	.69	.493			
Communication	.25 (.17)	.21	1.55	.124			
Training	38 (.25)	23	-1.49	.138			
DESOR	.27 (.13)	.23	2.02	.046			
$R^2 = .17, F(7, 75) = 2.23, p = .041$							
$\Delta R^2 = .12, F(5, 75) = 1$	2.04, <i>p</i> = .083						

Hierarchical Regression Analysis, Socio-Organisational Factors Predicting Adoption Success

#### Post hoc analysis

Post hoc analysis was conducted because the background literature suggests that perceptions towards specific modalities of technology can vary (Bishop et al., 2005) and HCT perceptions vary within the category of HCT itself (Low et al., 2021; Sezgin & Yıldırım, 2014) which means clinician attitudes will vary across the types of different technologies (i.e., clinicians may feel different about health information technology compared to hardware like glucose monitors). We asked participants to inform us which specific piece of technology they were thinking of when answering the questions. 63 participants answered this question, 33 were thinking about software and clinician-facing technology (e.g., digital health records, patient management systems, etc.) and 30 were thinking about specific hardware devices (e.g., continuous glucose monitors, breathing regulators, ultrasound machines, etc.).

Post hoc analyses were conducted after the authors read the open-ended questions and considered the background literature. There was potential for comparisons to be made between hardware and software. The post hoc question, which flows on from RQ2, was whether socio-organisational factors differed in perceived importance if participants were thinking about hardware or software when answering survey questions. A two-tailed independent samples *t*-test was conducted to answer the question of whether the perceived importance of socio-organisational factors differed for hardware and software.

RQ3 was not suitable for post hoc analyses because we would have preferred to perform a moderated regression with hardware and software moderating the relationship between socio-organisational factors and successful adoption, however, the sample size is too small and based on Gpower analysis we would need 102 participants for an effect size similar to relevant literature (e.g., Santini et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2019).

#### Results

Bellow (Table 11) is the descriptive results of the perceived importance of socioorganisational factors determining novel technology use split by hardware and software groups. Firstly, Levene's test was significant for the nature of clinical work, displaying homogeneity of variance. All other variables were non-significant for Levene's test. Results of the *t*-test indicated that across socio-organisational factors, there was a difference in means for communication and training. All other factors showed no difference in means and were not significant. Training had a significant difference in means with a medium to large effect size between the 30 hardware and 33 software participants. Additionally, communication had a significant difference in means between hardware and software, with a large effect size. Results Suggest that participants perceived that training and communication are more important for hardware than software when determining if healthcare professionals use novel HCT.

#### Table 12

Factors	Group	Ν	М	SD	SE	t	df	Cohen's d	р
DESOR	Software	33	2.72	0.81	.14	8	61	.2	.424
	Hardware	30	2.9	0.97	.18		61		
NOCW	Software	33	4.55	0.66	.12	.07	61	.05	.949
	Hardware	30	4.53	0.82	.15		61		
Culture	Software	33	4.03	0.81	.14	3	61	.07	.171
	Hardware	30	4.1	0.99	.18		61		
Communication	Software	33	3.85	0.8	.14	-3.2	61	.8	.002
	- Hardware	30	4.47	0.73	.13		61		
Training	Software	33	4.07	0.62	.11	-2.84	61	.72	.006
	Hardware	30	4.5	0.57	.11		61		

T-test Analysis Results Summary of Importance Questions Split By Hardware and Software

#### **Study 2 Discussion**

This study investigated two research questions, "What are the factors important for healthcare technology adoption?" and "What is the relationship between socio-organisational factors and HCT adoption?". In this section I will discuss the findings from each analysis separately, how each of the results relate to the literature reviewed and wider research, and what conclusions might be drawn. Then I will discuss the findings across each analysis in the same way. Finally, a general discussion will follow this section to synthesise the results across both studies.

# Research question 2: What are the socio-organisational factors important for HCT adoption?

To answer the first research question, simple descriptive analyses uncovered which socio-organisational factors clinicians found most important, which factors were least important, and whether clinicians varied in their answers. The results showed that patient outcomes were the most important enabler of whether clinicians used a novel piece of technology. This is unsurprising considering that is clinicians' primary role – to improve the health of their patients. This finding is supported by the literature, whereby many studies have examined how improving patient outcomes improves HCT adoption (Wald et al., 2010; Neumann et al., 2011; Eklind, 2017) and that a lack of evidence that HCT improves patient outcomes is a barrier for adoption and diffusion (Sublet et al., 2011; Hughes et al., 2014; Salzmann et al., 2017).

The two least important enablers for determining clinician technology use were being involved in the development and selection of the technology. This was surprising considering the research suggesting that being involved in the development and selection of technology was important for technology adoption, giving clinicians a sense of ownership (Paré et al., 2006; Gagné, 2000; Fuchs & Prouska, 2014). It is plausible that clinicians fail to perceive the positive downstream effects of their involvement in technology development and selection. Their perspectives may be confined to issues with the final product, possibly overlooking opportunities for improvement through collaborative clinician input. Another explanation for this finding is that a mindset of "designing is for experts" may be prevalent among clinicians, who reside within that paradigm (Sanders & Stappers, 2008). Their profession has a great number of different specialists and experts in many areas except design. Therefore, clinicians may not feel comfortable or qualified to engage with co-designing technology.

Additionally, healthcare professionals have been found to struggle with oscillating between their expert or decision-maker roles and collaborative partnerships demanded by the co-design process (Donetto et al., 2015). Therefore, as the design process goes on, their decision-making power may decrease, and in turn, decrease their interest casting the importance of such endeavours into doubt. Furthermore, the observed outcomes may be attributed, in part, to the formulation of the survey questions. For instance, had the inquiry focused on whether clinicians in general, not necessarily the respondents themselves, were engaged in the developmental and selection processes of the technology, the responses might have exhibited a more affirmed response.

Another surprising finding is that clinicians did not find patients or whānau liking the technology to be important when considering using new technology. Research suggested that these factors, especially patients preferring the technology, were impactful on HCT adoption (De Veer et al., 2011; Mileski et al., 2017). Moreover, these items had the two highest standard deviations, suggesting that opinions varied amongst clinicians. Given the substantial importance that healthcare professionals place on patient outcomes, it stands to reason that clinicians prioritise the health outcomes derived from the technology over patients' subjective approval of the tool itself.

# Research question 3: What is the relationship between perceived importance of socioorganisational factors and HCT adoption?

To answer research question three, one multiple regression with socio-organisational factors predicting clinician perspectives was performed. Additionally, one hierarchical regression looking at whether socio-organisational factors predicted successful adoption while controlling for technology characteristics and clinician perspectives was performed. The results of the multiple regression (socio-organisational factors predicting clinician perspectives) suggest that DESOR moderately predicts clinician perspectives. We composed the construct (DESOR) of items pertaining to involvement in development and selection, and perceptions of importance about whether patients and whānau like the technology. Therefore, these results highlight the importance of the role patients and whanau have in shaping clinician perspectives about novel HCT. Moreover, it suggests that being involved in the development and selection of novel HCT can have a significant impact on the anxiety clinicians may feel when grappling with new technology. Interestingly, this finding contradicts the previous finding in RQ2; that clinicians do not perceive being involved in the development nor selection of HCT to be an important determinant of use. This paradox gives credence to the argument that a "designing is for experts" mindset might exist among healthcare professionals (Sanders & Stappers, 2008; Donetto et al., 2015). On the one hand, clinicians do not think that being involved in development and selection is important for using technology, however, technology related anxiety might be a consequence of not being involved. There is no current literature that examines this tension and is a prospective avenue for future research.

The hierarchical regression outcomes suggest that all the socio-organisational factors pinpointed in Study 1 do not reliably the successful adoption of HCT. However, taken as a whole, including socio-organisational factors increased the model's predictive power. Initially, the characteristics of the technology itself only explained a moderate amount of variance in the successful adoption of HCT, highlighting that technological attributes alone might not adequately predict adoption success. Given that ease of use is a critical component in the literature on technology acceptance and has been identified as a significant determinant of technology adoption and usage in healthcare contexts (Kijsanayotin et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2015; De Veer et al., 2015), and was the measure used to define technology characteristics in this study, one might expect these characteristics to offer higher predictive value for successful technology adoption. This expectation, combined with the noticeable impact of DESOR on the model, allows us to conclude that both technology characteristics and socioorganisational factors are crucial for the success of technology adoption. Literature supports that user acceptance is greatly influenced by perceived usefulness and ease of use (Davis, 1989). By involving healthcare professionals in the technology selection and development phase (represented by DESOR), not only can the ease of use of the technology be significantly enhanced, but it can also amplify their sense of ownership (Paré et al., 2006; Gagné, 2000; Fuchs & Prouska, 2014), likely leading to positive technology perceptions among clinicians.

# Post-hoc analysis

The results of the post-hoc analysis *t*-test indicated that there were marked differences in the way clinicians thought about software versus hardware. The two stand-out factors were communication and training. Communication was operationalized with one item: *"There is effective communication about the technology roll-out.*". Understanding how it was operationalized, clinicians perceive that communication about the roll-out of technology is one of the most important enablers of technology adoption as it rivalled the NOCW. Communication of software and health information technology systems has received great attention from researchers. There are studies looking at raising software awareness (Grimson, et al., 2000; Mun et al., 2017), enhancing education for software (Wensing et al., 2019), and as discussed in the literature review, most of the research examining technology adoption is focused on HIT. Paradoxically, these systems tend to be the medium through which new technology is communicated. Nevertheless, it seems the communication surrounding hardware is being neglected in the literature and clinical contexts as HPs find it more important for determining use. It is plausible that HIT receives more attention because it tends to affect ways of working, organisation-wide when implemented. However, these results show that for HPs to consider using a piece of technology, the need for communication about the roll-out of hardware is greater than for software.

Training was operationalized using three items; "The training to use the technology is effective.", "There is sufficient time to learn how to use the technology.", and "There is sufficient time to integrate technology into work processes.". In general, training for healthcare technology implementation is among the highest demands from physicians (Ruiz et al., 2017). However, the results provided a more nuanced view. Training received a much higher mean rating for hardware than it did for software. These differences in perceptions might be due to the inherent complexity of new hardware devices when compared with software applications. Nielsen's 10 usability heuristics is a widely popular approach to designing software and websites (Nielsen, 1994; Gonzalez-Holland, 1994). Part of this approach is understanding that when designing software, it is beneficial to avoid re-inventing the wheel. Or in other words, to stick with conventional design aspects. This creates software that feels familiar to the user, decreasing the time needed to learn how to use it (Abulfaraj & Steele, 2020). I argue that HPs do not need as much training for HIT because of this phenomenon, HPs are already familiar with how the previous system worked, and if there are new features, they have likely used software with those features before. Hardware does not necessarily have this feature. Various buttons, screens, alerts, parts, and noises may confuse HPs if they have not seen the device before. Moreover, HPs are likely aware of the serious

outcomes if an error occurs with hardware technology (Ward & Clarkson, 2004), likely increasing their proclivity and desire for training.

### **General Discussion**

The current research demonstrates that socio-organisational factors significantly influence the success of technological innovations in healthcare organisations, clinician perspectives towards HCT, and ultimately the adoption of HCT. Throughout the research, several common threads emerged. Notably, the influence of relational dynamics on adoption outcomes is considerable. The success of HCT adoption is, to a significant extent, shaped by the nature of the relationships among individuals participating in HCT implementation. These relationships can either facilitate or hinder the adoption process depending on the quality and nature of the relationship. There is a paucity of research on this topic and deserves attention from scholars. Moreover, it has been observed that healthcare professionals universally aspire for HCT to enhance patient outcomes highlighting the critical role of positive interactions between patients and clinicians, as well as between HCT developers and clinicians. These dynamics significantly affect clinicians' perceptions of HCT and, ultimately, the success of organisational HCT may be required stemming from the differing views on training and communication depending on technology modality.

# The four C's of adoption (conflict, communication, co-design, and culture)

In this section, I will discuss the findings across both studies by comparing and synthesizing the results of the present research. This section will also include practical implications of these findings where appropriate which will be followed by a section on scholarly implications. Developers, decision-makers, and healthcare organisations need to consider the social and organisational aspects of the context in which HCT is being introduced. What we see in the results suggests that socio-organisational factors predict successful adoption of HCT over and above the technologies' characteristics. This means that when implementing a device or software, healthcare organisations need to consider conflict and relationship management, engage in effective communication, support co-design and collaborative work, and foster a culture of accountability.

#### Conflict

Conflict management can change potential barriers into antecedents of successful adoption. Addressing and navigating potential relationship conflicts may be difficult, however, harnessing these diverse perspectives and goals can contribute to a more comprehensive adoption process. This phenomenon holds weight due to the profound impact of fostering positive relationships between teams and individuals endeavouring to introduce technology into a particular healthcare institution. A healthcare organisation does not reside within a vacuum, it is a system, influenced by myriad individuals and groups inside and outside of the organisation often holding conflicting values, assumptions, thresholds of evidence, and aspirations (Milewa, 2006). While conflict within relationships emerged as a significant barrier in Study 1, the positive correlation between DESOR and successful adoption in Study 2 suggests that when managed well, relationships can also facilitate successful HCT adoption. This phenomenon underscores the importance of fostering positive dynamics between teams and individuals, especially in the context of introducing HCT.

Therefore, the struggle for a will to power emerges regarding HCT adoption especially considering the limited resources available to innovators and implementors. Moreover, a shift in trust from traditional hierarchical assumed trust (i.e., I trust you because you are my superior) has diminished in healthcare contexts trending toward a conditional trust, one that is earned through honesty, reliability, competence, and shared values and agendas (Calnan & Rowe, 2008). As a result, a process of negotiation, collaboration, and partnership with stakeholders is required to improve the chances of HCT adoption success (Ven de Ven, 2005; Nielsen & Mengiste, 2014). Moreover, technology researchers and developers tend to pay less attention to social and political skills in favour of technical competence (Ven de Ven, 2005). A focus on social and political skills is an avenue of development and improvement for healthcare technology producers, diffusers, and innovators. Social skills are characterized as the capacity to discern the underlying emotions, motivations, and behaviours of individuals within one's group and effectively influence or persuade them (Ferris et al., 2001). As such, leaders, innovators, and developers should understand how clinicians may react emotionally to novel HCT, what may motivate them when presented with it, and how they may act in the face of it. To ascertain this information, open, honest, and respectful communication is key.

#### Communication

Engaging in effective communication is a clear cornerstone of adoption, observed across the present research. Ensuring clear, consistent, and targeted information is provided with the additional importance of customizing messages tailored to specific modalities of technology (e.g., hardware and software) emerged as a cornerstone of successful adoption.

This thread underscores the pivotal role of communication in HCT adoption. The interplay of continuous learning, transparency, and accountability, facilitated by leadership, forms the backbone of an environment where clinicians can gain insights from technological errors. Transparency, a standalone factor, and an integral part of accountability and learning culture, serves as a linchpin for effective technology implementation. However, balancing clarity and frequency in communication proves challenging amid organisational complexities.
Moreover, feedback mechanisms, attuned to clinician needs, prove ostensibly instrumental in enhancing technology uptake and mitigating communication barriers.

There are various ways through which organisations can support effective communication. Fattal and Lehoux (2008) found that in reporting healthcare technology assessments, the results of assessments should consider 'lay' organisations, groups, and individuals to help broaden the conversation surrounding assessments of novel HCT. Study 1 underscored the importance of getting information about novel technology to the right people, at the right time, through the right medium and Study 2 provided some nuance to this finding. Namely, that communication regarding hardware is more important than for software. If the logic of creating simple messages was introduced at the beginning of the implementation process, with a special focus on hardware innovations it may also help clinicians understand how a particular piece of technology works, how it helps, what it does, and what impact it may have on their roles (Belongia & Schwartz, 1998).

To help communication further, when multiple dissemination strategies are used, the likelihood of alignment between desired and actual clinician behaviour is increased (McCormack et al., 2013b). Therefore, using multiple communication channels ought to increase the chances of successful HCT adoption. However, as pointed out in the present, organisations should be cautious about imposing too much information on clinicians. There is a need to balance accurate, timely, and clear information. The findings also suggest that an opportunity to decrease information about new software and increase information about new hardware rollouts exists. Connectedly, these communication principles are aptly suited to the co-design process.

#### Co-design

Recognizing communication as a vital aspect of HCT adoption is insufficient on its own. Even with effective workplace communication among teams, and individuals, it becomes meaningless for the HCT adoption endeavour if not translated into a direct activity aimed at it. Co-design is an activity that should incorporate the communication strategies and principles outlined in the previous section to further enhance the likelihood of success of HCT adoption. From the results of the current research, we can see that co-design was critical to fitting the technology to the user-work environment. Although the importance ratings of involvement in HCT selection and development were low, DESOR reliably predicted technology-related anxiety and successful adoption. Therefore, co-design is critically important for the success of HCT adoption. However, the mixed findings from both studies suggest caution against assuming that all healthcare professionals equally value being part of the design process. There's a need for a more nuanced approach to involve clinicians, recognising their varied opinions and interest in adopting new healthcare technologies. Additionally, Noorbergen et al. (2021) conducted a thorough thematic analysis of mHealth co-design challenges, they found that selecting and engaging with people who understand the end-user context (e.g., first-hand experience) and the purpose of the HCT is critical for successful adoption. Noorbergen et al's. (2021) research and the findings from the present research suggest that clinicians should be incorporated within the design and implementation process as soon as possible.

However, engaging in co-design without ensuring everyone can participate may not create an equal partnership or improve health and care quality (Ni She & Harrison, 2021). This is why small or under-resourced healthcare organisations may struggle with the process or notion of co-design and possibly why we see involvement in selection and development in low repute. Engaging in co-design, which requires continuous discussions and consideration to tackle power imbalances, becomes challenging in the absence of sufficient resources, focus on implementation, and support from senior leaders (Ni She & Harrison, 2021). Therefore, a culture of support and consideration, championed by leadership is crucial for the success of HCT adoption.

#### Culture

As stated in the literature review, culture can be a difficult thing to define. Yet it is one of the most important factors for an organisation's ability to innovate because it permeates the entire organisation. The culmination of overcoming conflict within a particular healthcare organisation through effective communication, applied to co-design will likely have a lasting effect on an organisation's ability to adopt HCT effectively. This thread underscores the pivotal role of culture in HCT adoption. The interplay of continuous learning, transparency, and accountability, facilitated by leadership, forms the backbone of an environment where clinicians can gain insights from technological errors. Some scholars argue that culture impacts clinician accountability (e.g., Wachter, 2012). However, I argue that there is a dynamic, a two-way street, i.e., observed accountability affects the culture and the culture affects clinician accountability. As such, the introduction of the four C's of adoption can influence the grounds of a culture of a healthcare organisation to foster more effective relationships regarding HCT implementation and adoption.

### **Scholarly Implications**

A nuanced approach to HCT adoption is needed more broadly. In the literature review, I argued for the expansion of current frameworks that were too narrowly focused on usability aspects. The results of this thesis provide evidence of the need to broaden HCT adoption research to include socio-organisational factors. Doing so will likely beget a greater understanding of the HCT adoption context and its barriers and enablers to support effective adoption and innovation efforts. Moreover, some of the Tech-ISM framework's (Wong et al., 2021) claims have been substantiated from the results of the present research. For example, its *socialising* aspect; the prioritisation of the co-development of technology, effective communication, and workload accommodations in the pursuit of greater adoption is given credence. Moreover, Tech-ISM's *identifying* aspect; identifying key relationships to foster greater adoption is also supported by the present research.

#### **Limitations and Future Research Considerations**

As with all research, some study limitations warrant noting. Study 1 faces four primary limitations. First, the small sample size of only eight participants limits the generalizability of the findings to the broader clinician population. This limitation is further compounded by the fact that most participants occupy leadership positions, with a few in process management roles, potentially introducing selection bias that could influence the thematic analysis. Second, while the depth of analysis provided valuable insights, its scope was restricted to these eight participants, likely missing a broader spectrum of barriers and enablers to technology adoption. Additionally, as noted in the first author's reflection on Study 1, potential subjectivity due to the author's relationships with healthcare professionals might have affected the outcomes. Despite efforts to maintain impartiality, the impact of these relationships on the findings cannot be entirely discounted. Furthermore, as health systems can vary greatly between different countries, the data from Study 1 is entirely from New Zealand potentially limiting the conclusions.

Study 2 shares several limitations with Study 1, particularly in terms of its sample size and sampling method. While the sample size was deemed sufficient for the conducted analyses, it was cuspal in terms of providing adequate statistical power. This is especially true of the *t*-test conducted which only had 63 participants. Future research should consider increasing the sample size of these analyses to discover if the effects are repeatable. The use of snowball and convenience sampling restricts the study to individuals within a limited network, possibly introducing bias and potentially affecting the generalizability of the results. The problems with internal consistency and the decision to use single items as measures of socio-organisational factors may also fail to capture the entirety of the constructs in question (i.e., Tech characteristics, NOCW, Culture, Communication, Clinician perspectives, and Successful adoption). However, successful adoption and communication had very high face validity and the single-item methodology was practical for this research. Nevertheless, these single-item measures could affect the reliability and validity of the findings and combining single and multiple-item constructs may have complicated the data and analyses. Therefore, future research should look at performing a factor analysis on items related to the socioorganisational constructs explored in this thesis to ascertain a more comprehensive understanding of the constructs. Furthermore, as a cross-sectional study, the data only captures one-time point. Therefore, any conclusions regarding causal relationships should demand caution. Moreover, the survey methodology of self-report measures may have introduced social desirability bias. However, this is doubtful due to the survey being independent of any healthcare organisation and participants completing it at their leisure.

Future research should take these limitations into account. Researchers should aim to increase the participant count of both thematic and quantitative analyses performed in the current research. Moreover, a deeper look into the attitudinal differences between hardware and software may provide further insights into how best to approach HCT adoption. This dichotomy could provide effective moderation or mediation effects on quantitative analyses. Moreover, the construct; DESOR warrants a closer look and could be integrated into existing frameworks (e.g., UTAUT, TAM, etc.) regarding HCT adoption as it presents itself as a significant predictor.

### Conclusion

The exploration of socio-organisational factors in relation to HCT adoption has uncovered the significant influence of these factors on HCT adoption. Namely, we have observed that the current frameworks for examining HCT adoption lack a focus on the social and organisational aspects of technology adoption. This thesis provides the grounds and reason for future research to explore socio-organisational factors when researching HCT adoption. Moreover, it also provides a viewpoint from which practitioners can understand how socio-organisational factors could influence technology innovation attempts and how best to mitigate the barriers to that endeavour.

#### References

- Abulfaraj, A., & Steele, A. (2020). Detailed usability heuristics: A breakdown of usability heuristics to enhance comprehension for novice evaluators. In *International Conference* on Human-Computer Interaction (pp. 3-18). Springer International Publishing.
- Adaskin, E. J., Hughes, L., McMullan, P., McLean, M., & McMorris, D. (1994). The impact of computerization on nursing: An interview study of users and facilitators. *Computers in Nursing*, 12(3), 141-148.
- Adetunji, C. O., Olaniyan, O. T., Adeyomoye, O., Dare, A., Adeniyi, M. J., Alex, E., ... & Shariati, M. A. (2022). eHealth, mHealth, and telemedicine for COVID-19 pandemic. In *Assessing COVID-19 and Other Pandemics and Epidemics using Computational Modelling and Data Analysis* (pp. 157-168).
- Agha, L. (2014). The effects of health information technology on the costs and quality of medical care. *Journal of Health Economics*, *34*, 19-30.
- Ajzen, I. (1985). From intentions to actions: A theory of planned behavior (pp. 11-39). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 179-211.
- Almeida, J. P. L. D., Farias, J. S., & Carvalho, H. S. (2017). Drivers of the technology adoption in healthcare. *BBR. Brazilian Business Review*, 14, 336-351.
- Arnold, J. A., Arad, S., Rhoades, J. A., & Drasgow, F. (2000). The empowering leadership questionnaire: The construction and validation of a new scale for measuring leader behaviors. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 21(3), 249-269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/</u>

- Baer, M., & Frese, M. (2003). Innovation is not enough: Climates for initiative and psychological safety, process innovations, and firm performance. *Journal of Organizational Behavior: The International Journal of Industrial, Occupational and Organizational Psychology and Behavior, 24*(1), 45-68.
- Bagshaw, P., Bagshaw, S., Barnett, P., Nicholls, G., Gowland, S., & Shaw, C. (2022). The answer is more investment in health and welfare-not more rationing of healthcare! *The New Zealand Medical Journal (Online)*, 135(1552), 145-147.
- Bayramzadeh, S., & Aghaei, P. (2021). Technology integration in complex healthcare environments: A systematic literature review. *Applied Ergonomics*, 92, 103351.
- Bear, D. J., Tompson, H. B., Morrison, C. L., Vickers, M., Paradise, A., Czarnowsky, M., Soyars, M., & King, K. (2008). Tapping the potential of informal learning: An ASTD research study. American Society for Training and Development, Alexandria, VA.
- Belongia, E. A., & Schwartz, B. (1998). Strategies for promoting judicious use of antibiotics by doctors and patients. *BMJ*, 317(7159), 668-671.
- Bennis, W., Goleman, D., & O'Toole, J. (2008). Transparency: How leaders create a culture of candor. John Wiley & Sons.
- Bernstein, M. L., McCreless, T., & Cote, M. J. (2007). Five constants of information technology adoption in healthcare. *Hospital Topics*, 85(1), 17-25.
- Bhatta, R., Aryal, K., & Ellingsen, G. (2015). Opportunities and challenges of a ruraltelemedicine program in Nepal. *Journal of Nepal Health Research Council*, 13(30), 149-153. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26744201/</u>

- Bhattacherjee, A., Hikmet, N., Menachemi, N., Kayhan, V. O., & Brooks, R. G. (2006). The differential performance effects of healthcare information technology adoption. *Information Systems Management*, 24(1), 5-14.
- Böhm, A. K., Jensen, M. L., Sørensen, M. R., & Stargardt, T. (2020). Real-world evidence of user engagement with mobile health for diabetes management: Longitudinal observational study. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 8(11).
- Boonstra, A., & Broekhuis, M. (2010). Barriers to the acceptance of electronic medical records by physicians from systematic review to taxonomy and interventions. *BMC Health Services Research*, 10(1), 1-17.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101.
- Brewster, L., Mountain, G., Wessels, B., Kelly, C., & Hawley, M. (2014). Factors affecting front line staff acceptance of telehealth technologies: A mixed-method systematic review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70(1), 21-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12480</u>
- Brod, C. (1984). Technostress: The human cost of the computer revolution. Addison-Wesley.
- Calnan, M., & Rowe, R. (2008). Trust relations in a changing health service. *Journal of Health* Services Research & Policy, 13(3\_suppl), 97-103.
- Cao, J., Zhang, G., & Liu, D. (2022). The impact of using mHealth Apps on improving public health satisfaction during the COVID-19 pandemic: A digital content value chain perspective. In *Healthcare* (Vol. 10, No. 3, p. 479). MDPI.
- Carayon, P., Kianfar, S., Li, Y., Xie, A., Alyousef, B., & Wooldridge, A. (2015). A systematic review of mixed methods research on human factors and ergonomics in health care. *Applied Ergonomics*, 51, 291-321.

- Caro, D. H., & Sethi, A. S. (1985). Strategic management of technostress: The chaining of Prometheus. *Journal of Medical Systems*, 9, 291-304.
- Carron, A. V., Widmeyer, W. N., & Brawley, L. R. (1985). The development of an instrument to assess cohesion in sport teams: The Group Environment Questionnaire. *Journal of Sport Psychology*, 7(3), 244-266.
- Catan, G., Espanha, R., Mendes, R. V., Toren, O., & Chinitz, D. (2015). Health information technology implementation - Impacts and policy considerations: A comparison between Israel and Portugal. *Israel Journal of Health Policy Research*, *4*, 41. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13584-015-0037-2
- Chassin, M. R., & Galvin, R. W. (1998). The urgent need to improve health care quality: Institute of Medicine National Roundtable on Health Care Quality. *JAMA*, 280(11), 1000-1005.
- Chen, G., & Klimoski, R. J. (2007). Training and development of human resources at work: Is the state of our science strong? *Human Resource Management Review*, *17*(2), 180-190.
- Choi, W. S., Park, J., Choi, J. Y., & Yang, J. (2019). Stakeholders' resistance to telemedicine with focus on physicians: Utilizing the Delphi technique. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 25(6), 378-385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633X18795177</u>
- Christensen, M. C., & Remler, D. (2009). Information and communications technology in US health care: why is adoption so slow and is slower better? *Journal of Health Politics*, *Policy and Law*, 34(6), 1011-1034.
- Clark, D., Dean, G., Bolton, S., & Beeson, B. (2019). Bench to bedside: The technology adoption pathway in healthcare. *Health and Technology*, 10(2), 537–545. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12553-019-00370-z</u>

- Cortina, J. M. (1993). What is coefficient alpha? An examination of theory and applications. Journal of Applied Psychology, 78(1), 98.
- Cucciniello, M., Lapsley, I., & Nasi, G. (2016). Managing health care in the digital world: A comparative analysis. *Health Services Management Research*, *29*(4), 132-142.
- Dabić, M., Lažnjak, J., Smallbone, D., & Švarc, J. (2019). Intellectual capital, organisational climate, innovation culture, and SME performance: Evidence from Croatia. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 26(4), 522-544.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-04-2018-0117">https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-04-2018-0117</a>
- Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. *MIS Quarterly*, 319-340.
- De Veer, A. J., Fleuren, M. A., Bekkema, N., & Francke, A. L. (2011). Successful implementation of new technologies in nursing care: A questionnaire survey of nurseusers. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 11(1), 1-12.
- De Veer, A. J., Peeters, J. M., Brabers, A. E., Schellevis, F. G., Rademakers, J. J. J., & Francke,A. L. (2015). Determinants of the intention to use e-Health by community dwelling olderpeople. *BMC Health Services Research*, 15, 1-9.
- de Vries, S. T., Wong, L., Sutcliffe, A., Houÿez, F., Ruiz, C. L., Mol, P. G., & IMI Web-RADR
  Work Package 3b Consortium. (2017). Factors influencing the use of a mobile app for
  reporting adverse drug reactions and receiving safety information: A qualitative study. *Drug Safety*, 40(5), 443-455. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40264-017-0508-2
- DesRoches, C. M., Campbell, E. G., Rao, S. R., Donelan, K., Ferris, T. G., Jha, A., ... & Blumenthal, D. (2008). Electronic health records in ambulatory care--a national survey of

physicians. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *359*(1), 50-60. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa0802005

- Dhagarra, D., Goswami, M., & Kumar, G. (2020). Impact of Trust and Privacy Concerns on Technology Acceptance in Healthcare: An Indian Perspective. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 141, 104164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2020.104164
- Donetto, S., Pierri, P., Tsianakas, V., & Robert, G. (2015). Experience-based co-design and healthcare improvement: Realizing participatory design in the public sector. *The Design Journal*, 18(2), 227–248. <u>https://doi.org/10.2752/175630615X14212498964312</u>
- England, I., Stewart, D., & Walker, S. (2000). Information technology adoption in health care: When organisations and technology collide. *Australian Health Review*, *23*(3), 176-185.
- Ferris, G. R., Witt, L. A., & Hochwarter, W. A. (2001). Interaction of social skill and general mental ability on job performance and salary. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(6), 1075.

Field, A. (2009). Discovering statistics using SPSS (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.

- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1975). Belief, Attitude, Intention, and Behaviour: An Introduction to Theory and Research.
- Fisher, G. G., Matthews, R. A., & Gibbons, A. M. (2016). Developing and investigating the use of single-item measures in organizational research. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 21(1), 3-23. doi: 10.1037/a003913
- Ford, J. K., Lauricella, T. K., Van Fossen, J. A., & Riley, S. J. (2021). Creating energy for change: The role of changes in perceived leadership support on commitment to an organisational change initiative. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 57(2), 153-173.

- Frankenhaeuser, M., & Johansson, G. (1986). Stress at work: Psychobiological and psychosocial aspects. *Applied Psychology*, 35(3), 287-299.
- Fuchs, S., & Prouska, R. (2014). Creating positive employee change evaluation: The role of different levels of organizational support and change participation. *Journal of Change Management*, 14(3), 361-383.
- Fulk, J. (1993). Social construction of communication technology. Academy of Management Journal, 36(5), 921-950.
- Gagné, M., Koestner, R., & Zuckerman, M. (2000). Facilitating acceptance of organizational change: The importance of self-determination. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 30(9), 1843–1852.
- Gagnon, M. P., Ngangue, P., Payne-Gagnon, J., & Desmartis, M. (2016). m-Health adoption by healthcare professionals: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 23(1), 212-220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocv052</u>
- Gangwar, H., Date, H., & Ramaswamy, R. (2015). Understanding determinants of cloud computing adoption using an integrated TAM-TOE model. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*.
- Ghulam Sarwar Shah, S., & Robinson, I. (2006). User involvement in healthcare technology development and assessment: Structured literature review. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance, 19*(6), 500-515.
- Giraldo, L., Schachner, B., Luna, D., & Benítez, S. (2018). Exploring nurses' perceptions and expectations toward a BCMA implementation using a mobile app and workstations as a change management strategy. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*, 250, 134-138. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-852-5-134</u>

- Glauser, W. (2020). Virtual care is here to stay, but major challenges remain. *Canadian Medical* Association Journal, 192(30), E868-E869.
- Gonzales, M. J., Cheung, V. C., & Riek, L. D. (2015). Designing collaborative healthcare technology for the acute care workflow. In 2015 9th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare (PervasiveHealth) (pp. 145-152). IEEE.
- Gonzalez-Holland, E., Whitmer, D., Moralez, L., & Mouloua, M. (2017). Examination of the use of Nielsen's 10 usability heuristics & outlooks for the future. In *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting* (Vol. 61, No. 1, pp. 1472-1475).
  SAGE CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Grand View Research. (2019). Internet of things in healthcare market size, share and trends analysis. Retrieved from <u>https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/internet-of-things-iot-healthcare-market</u>
- Greenhalgh, T., Wherton, J., Papoutsi, C., Lynch, J., Hughes, G., Hinder, S., ... & Shaw, S.
  (2017). Beyond adoption: a new framework for theorizing and evaluating nonadoption, abandonment, and challenges to the scale-up, spread, and sustainability of health and care technologies. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *19*(11), e367. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.8775
- Grimson, J., Grimson, W., Flahive, M., Foley, C., O'Moore, R., Nolan, J., & Chadwick, G.
  (2000). A multimedia approach to raising awareness of information and communications technology amongst healthcare professionals. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 58, 297-305.

- Grol, R. (2001). Successes and failures in the implementation of evidence-based guidelines for clinical practice. *Medical Care, 39*(8 Suppl 2), II46-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005650-200108002-00003</u>
- Grol, R. P. T. M., Bosch, M. C., Hulscher, M. E. J. L., Eccles, M. P., & Wensing, M. (2007).
  Planning and studying improvement in patient care: The use of theoretical perspectives. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 85(1), 93–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0009.2007.00478.x</u>
- Hage, J., & Aiken, M. (1967). Relationship of centralization to other structural properties. Administrative Science Quarterly, 72-92.
- Haleem, A., Javaid, M., Singh, R. P., & Suman, R. (2021). Telemedicine for healthcare:Capabilities, features, barriers, and applications. *Sensors International*, 2, 100117.
- Harrison, M. I., Koppel, R., & Bar-Lev, S. (2007). Unintended consequences of information technologies in health care—an interactive sociotechnical analysis. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 14(5), 542-549.
- Hartz, J., Yingling, L., & Powell-Wiley, T. M. (2016). Use of mobile health technology in the prevention and management of diabetes mellitus. *Current Cardiology Reports*, 18, 1-11.
- Helfrich, C. D., Weiner, B. J., McKinney, M. M., & Minasian, L. (2007). Determinants of implementation effectiveness: Adapting a framework for complex innovations. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 64(3), 279-303.
- Holden, R. J. (2012). Social and personal normative influences on healthcare professionals to use information technology: Towards a more robust social ergonomics. *Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science*, 13(5), 546-569.
- Holman, T. (2018). mHealth (mobile health). Retrieved from https://www.techtarget.com/searchhealthit/definition/mHealth

- Holt, D. T., Armenakis, A. A., Feild, H. S., & Harris, S. G. (2007). Readiness for organizational change: The systematic development of a scale. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 43(2), 232-255.
- Howard, M. C., & Rose, J. C. (2019). Refining and extending task-technology fit theory:
   Creation of two task-technology fit scales and empirical clarification of the construct.
   *Information & Management*, 56(6), 103134.
- IQVIA Institute. (2021). Digital health trends 2021: Innovation, evidence, regulation, and adoption. Retrieved May 15, 2021, from <u>https://www.iqvia.com/insights/the-iqvia-institute/reports/digital-health-trends-2021</u>
- Istepanian, R. S., Mousa, A., Haddad, N., Sungoor, A., Hammadan, T., Soran, H., & Al-Anzi, T. (2014). The potential of m-health systems for diabetes management in post-conflict regions a case study from Iraq. In 2014 36th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (pp. 3650-3653). IEEE.
- Jacob, C., Sanchez-Vazquez, A., & Ivory, C. (2019). Clinicians' role in the adoption of an oncology decision support app in Europe and its implications for organizational practices:
  Qualitative case study. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 7(5), e13555.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.2196/13555">https://doi.org/10.2196/13555</a>
- Jacob, C., Sanchez-Vazquez, A., & Ivory, C. (2020). Social, organizational, and technological factors impacting clinicians' adoption of mobile health tools: Systematic literature review. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 8(2), e15935.
- Jena, A. B., & Philipson, T. J. (2013). Endogenous cost-effectiveness analysis and health care technology adoption. *Journal of Health Economics*, 32(1), 172-180.

- Jimbo, M., Shultz, C. G., Nease, D. E., Fetters, M. D., Power, D., & Ruffin, M. T. (2013). Perceived barriers and facilitators of using a web-based interactive decision aid for colorectal cancer screening in community practice settings: Findings from focus groups with primary care clinicians and medical office staff. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 15(12), e286. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2997</u>
- Johnston, R., Jones, K., & Manley, D. (2018). Confounding and collinearity in regression analysis: A cautionary tale and an alternative procedure, illustrated by studies of British voting behaviour. *Quality & Quantity*, 52, 1957-1976.
- Kavandi, H., & Jaana, M. (2020). Factors that affect health information technology adoption by seniors: A systematic review. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 28(6), 1827-1842. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.13011</u>
- Kazi, D. (2008). The interconnectedness of formal and informal training.
- Kernick, D. (2002). Complexity and healthcare organisation. *Complexity and Healthcare: An Introduction*, 93-121.
- Khan, A., & Anwar, Y. (2020). Robots in healthcare: A survey. In Advances in Computer Vision: Proceedings of the 2019 Computer Vision Conference (CVC), Volume 2 (pp. 280-292).
  Springer International Publishing.
- Khatri, N., Brown, G. D., & Hicks, L. L. (2009). From a blame culture to a just culture in health care. *Health Care Management Review*, *34*(4), 312-322.
- Kijsanayotin, B., Pannarunothai, S., & Speedie, S. M. (2009). Factors influencing health information technology adoption in Thailand's community health centers: Applying the UTAUT model. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 78(6), 404-416.

Kjerulff, K. H., Pillar, B., Mills, M. E., & Lanigan, J. (1992). Technology anxiety as a potential mediating factor in response to medical technology. *Journal of Medical Systems, 16*, 7-13.

Kling, R. (1996). Computerization at work.

- Koivunen, M., & Saranto, K. (2018). Nursing professionals' experiences of the facilitators and barriers to the use of telehealth applications: A systematic review of qualitative studies. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 32(1), 24-44.
- Koppel, R., Metlay, J. P., Cohen, A., Abaluck, B., Localio, A. R., Kimmel, S. E., & Strom, B. L. (2005). Role of computerized physician order entry systems in facilitating medication errors. *JAMA*, 293(10), 1197-1203.
- Kotronoulas, G., Papadopoulou, C., MacNicol, L., Simpson, M., & Maguire, R. (2017).
  Feasibility and acceptability of the use of patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) in the delivery of nurse-led supportive care to people with colorectal cancer. *European Journal of Oncology Nursing, 29*, 115-124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejon.2017.06.002</u>
- Kotronoulas, G., Papadopoulou, C., Simpson, M. F., McPhelim, J., Mack, L., & Maguire, R. (2018). Using patient-reported outcome measures to deliver enhanced supportive care to people with lung cancer: Feasibility and acceptability of a nurse-led consultation model. *Support Care Cancer*, 26(11), 3729-3737. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-018-4234-x</u>

Kotter, J. P. (1996). Leading Change. Harvard Business School Press, Boston.

- Kucharska, W., & Bedford, D. (2023). Culture as a System. In *The Cultures of Knowledge* Organizations: Knowledge, Learning, Collaboration (KLC) (pp. 3-24). Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Kushniruk, A., & Nøhr, C. (2016). Participatory design, user involvement and health IT evaluation. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics, 222*, 139-151.

- Lau, F., Hagens, S., & Muttitt, S. (2007). A proposed benefits evaluation framework for health information systems in Canada. *Healthcare Quarterly (Toronto, Ont.), 10*(1), 112-118.
- Laurenza, E., Quintano, M., Schiavone, F., & Vrontis, D. (2018). The effect of digital technologies adoption in healthcare industry: A case-based analysis. *Business Process Management Journal*, 24(5), 1124-1144.
- Lawler, E. K., Hedge, A., & Pavlovic-Veselinovic, S. (2011). Cognitive ergonomics, sociotechnical systems, and the impact of healthcare information technologies. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, 41(4), 336-344.
- Lehane, P. (2019). Use without training: A case study of evidence-based software design for intuitive use. *Human Technology*, 15(1).
- Lin, C., Lin, I. C., & Roan, J. (2012). Barriers to physicians' adoption of healthcare information technology: An empirical study on multiple hospitals. *Journal of Medical Systems*, 36, 1965-1977.
- Liu, L., Miguel Cruz, A., Rios Rincon, A., Buttar, V., Ranson, Q., & Goertzen, D. (2015). What factors determine therapists' acceptance of new technologies for rehabilitation—a study using the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT). *Disability and Rehabilitation, 37*(5), 447-455.
- Low, S. T., Sakhardande, P. G., Lai, Y. F., Long, A. D., & Kaur-Gill, S. (2021). Attitudes and perceptions toward healthcare technology adoption among older adults in Singapore: A qualitative study. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 9, 588590.
- Ludwick, D. A., & Doucette, J. (2009). Primary care physicians' experience with electronic medical records: Barriers to implementation in a fee-for-service environment.

International Journal of Telemedicine and Applications, 2009, 853524. https://doi.org/10.1155/2009/853524

- MacNeill, V., Sanders, C., Fitzpatrick, R., Hendy, J., Barlow, J., Knapp, M., ... & Newman, S. P. (2014). Experiences of front-line health professionals in the delivery of telehealth: A qualitative study. *British Journal of General Practice*, 64(624), e401-e407.
- Manoharan, R., Kemper, J., & Young, J. (2022). Exploring the medical cannabis prescribing behaviours of New Zealand physicians. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, *41*(6), 1355-1366.
- McCormack, B., Rycroft-Malone, J., DeCorby, K., Hutchinson, A. M., Bucknall, T., Kent, B., et al. (2013a). A realist review of interventions and strategies to promote evidence-informed healthcare: A focus on change agency. *Implementation Science*, 8, Article 38. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-8-107
- McCormack, L., Sheridan, S., Lewis, M., Boudewyns, V., Melvin, C. L., Kistler, C., ... & Lohr,K. N. (2013b). Communication and dissemination strategies to facilitate the use of health-related evidence.
- Menachemi, N., Chukmaitov, A., Saunders, C., & Brooks, R. G. (2008). Hospital quality of care: Does information technology matter? The relationship between information technology adoption and quality of care. *Health Care Management Review*, 33(1), 51-59.
- Mileski, M., Kruse, C. S., Catalani, J., & Haderer, T. (2017). Adopting telemedicine for the selfmanagement of hypertension: Systematic review. *JMIR Medical Informatics*, 5(4), e41. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/medinform.6732</u>
- Milewa, T. (2006). Health technology adoption and the politics of governance in the UK. *Social Science & Medicine*, *63*(12), 3102-3112.

- Miller, R. L. (2015). Rogers' innovation diffusion theory (1962, 1995). In *Information Seeking Behavior and Technology Adoption: Theories and Trends* (pp. 261-274). IGI Global.
- Ministry of Health. (2016). Health of the Health Workforce 2015. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- Mun, S., Yun, Y. M., Han, T. H., Lee, S. E., Chang, H. J., Song, S. Y., & Kim, H. C. (2017). Public awareness of digital healthcare services. *Journal of Digital Contents Society*, 18(4), 621-629.
- Najaftorkaman, M., & Ghapanchi, A. H. (2014). Antecedents to the user adoption of electronic medical record.
- Ni She, E., & Harrison, R. (2021). Mitigating unintended consequences of co-design in health care. *Health Expectations*, 24(5), 1551-1556
- Nielsen, J. (1994). Enhancing the explanatory power of usability heuristics. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 152-158).
- Nielsen, J. A., & Mengiste, S. A. (2014). Analysing the diffusion and adoption of mobile IT across social worlds. *Health Informatics Journal*, 20(2), 87-103.
- NIOSH. (2021). NIOSH worker well-being questionnaire. Chari, R., Chang, C. C., Sauter, S. L., Petrun Sayers, E. L., Huang, W., & Fisher, G. G. Cincinnati, OH: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. DHHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 2021-110 (revised 5/2021). https://doi.org/10.26616/NIOSHPUB2021110revised52021
- Noe, R. A., & Ellingson, J. E. (2017). Autonomous learning in the workplace: An introduction. In *Autonomous Learning in the Workplace* (pp. 1-11). Routledge.

- Noorbergen, T. J., Adam, M. T., Teubner, T., & Collins, C. E. (2021). Using co-design in mobile health system development: a qualitative study with experts in co-design and mobile health system development. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth, 9*(11), e27896.
- Paré, G., Sicotte, C., & Jacques, H. (2006). The effects of creating psychological ownership on physicians' acceptance of clinical information systems. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 13(2), 197-205.
- Patel, A., Irwin, L., & Allam, D. (2019). Developing and implementing a wound care app to support best practices for community nursing. *Wounds UK*, 15(1).
- Pizziferri, L., Kittler, A. F., Volk, L. A., Honour, M. M., Gupta, S., Wang, S., ... & Bates, D. W. (2005). Primary care physician time utilization before and after implementation of an electronic health record: A time-motion study. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, 38(3), 176-188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbi.2004.11.009</u>
- Pullon, S., McKinlay, E., & Dew, K. (2009). Primary health care in New Zealand: The impact of organisational factors on teamwork. *British Journal of General Practice*, 59(560), 191-197.
- Randeree, E. (2007). Exploring physician adoption of EMRs: A multi-case analysis. *Journal of Medical Systems*, 31(6), 489-496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-007-9089-5</u>
- Renukappa, S., Mudiyi, P., Suresh, S., Abdalla, W., & Subbarao, C. (2022). Evaluation of challenges for adoption of smart healthcare strategies. *Smart Health*, 26, 100330.
- Robert, G., Greenhalgh, T., MacFarlane, F., & Peacock, R. (2009). Organisational factors influencing technology adoption and assimilation in the NHS: A systematic literature review. Report for the National Institute for Health Research Service Delivery and Organisation programme.

- Rogers, E. M. (1995). Lessons for guidelines from the diffusion of innovations. *The Joint Commission Journal on Quality Improvement, 21*(7), 324-328.
- Rogers, E. M., Singhal, A., & Quinlan, M. M. (2014). Diffusion of innovations. In An Integrated Approach to Communication Theory and Research (pp. 432-448). Routledge.
- Rogers, R. W. (1983). Cognitive and psychological processes in fear appeals and attitude change: A revised theory of protection motivation. In *Social Psychophysiology: A Sourcebook* (pp. 153–176).
- Ruiz Morilla, M. D., Sans, M., Casasa, A., & Giménez, N. (2017). Implementing technology in healthcare: Insights from physicians. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 17, 1-9.
- Santini, F. D. O., Ladeira, W. J., Sampaio, C. H., Perin, M. G., & Dolci, P. C. (2020). Propensity for technological adoption: An analysis of effects size in the banking sector. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 39(12), 1341-1355.
- Schein, E. H. (2010). Organizational Culture and Leadership (Vol. 2). John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken.
- Schifter, D. E., & Ajzen, I. (1985). Intention, perceived control, and weight loss: An application of the theory of planned behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 49(3), 843.
- Schmidt, S. W. (2007). The relationship between satisfaction with workplace training and overall job satisfaction. *Human Resource Development Quarterly, 18*(4), 481-498.
- Schneider, T., Panzera, A. D., Martinasek, M., McDermott, R., Couluris, M., Lindenberger, J.,... & Bryant, C. (2016). Physicians' perceptions of mobile technology for enhancing

asthma care for youth. *Journal of Child Health Care*, 20(2), 153-163. https://doi.org/10.1177/1367493514556555

- Schuster, M. A., McGlynn, E. A., & Brook, R. H. (2005). How good is the quality of health care in the United States? *The Milbank Quarterly*, 83(4), 843–895. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0009.2005.00403.x</u>
- Schuster, M. A., McGlynn, E. A., & Brook, R. H. (2005). How Good Is the Quality of Health Care in the United States? *Milbank Quarterly*, 83(4), 843-895.
- Sezgin, E., & Yıldırım, S. Ö. (2014). A literature review on attitudes of health professionals towards health information systems: From e-health to m-health. *Procedia Technology*, 16, 1317-1326.
- Sheeran, P. (2002). Intention—Behavior Relations: A Conceptual and Empirical Review. European Review of Social Psychology, 12(1), 1-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14792772143000003</u>
- Shorten, A., & Smith, J. (2017). Mixed methods research: Expanding the evidence base. *Evidence-Based Nursing*.
- Straub, E. T. (2009). Understanding technology adoption: Theory and future directions for informal learning. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(2), 625-649.
- Talukder, M. S., Sorwar, G., Bao, Y., Ahmed, J. U., & Palash, M. A. S. (2020). Predicting antecedents of wearable healthcare technology acceptance by elderly: A combined SEM-Neural Network approach. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 150, 119793.
- Tawfik, H., & Anya, O. (2015). Evaluating practice-centered awareness in cross-boundary telehealth decision support systems. *Telematics and Informatics*, *32*(3), 486-503.

- Taylor, J., Coates, E., Brewster, L., Mountain, G., Wessels, B., & Hawley, M. S. (2015).
  Examining the use of telehealth in community nursing: Identifying the factors affecting frontline staff acceptance and telehealth adoption. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *71*(2), 326-337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12480</u>
- Thompson, L., & McCabe, R. (2018). How psychiatrists recommend treatment and its relationship with patient uptake. *Health Communication*, *33*(11), 1345-1354.
- Triandis, H. C. (1979). Values, attitudes, and interpersonal behavior. In Nebraska Symposium on Motivation. University of Nebraska Press.
- Tsai, J. M., Cheng, M. J., Tsai, H. H., Hung, S. W., & Chen, Y. L. (2019). Acceptance and resistance of telehealth: The perspective of dual-factor concepts in technology adoption. *International Journal of Information Management, 49*, 34-44.
- Tubaishat, A. (2018). Perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use of electronic health records among nurses: Application of Technology Acceptance Model. *Informatics for Health and Social Care, 43*(4), 379-389.
- Tushman, M. L., & O'Reilly, C. A. (1997). Sorting organizational hardware. *The Journal of Business Strategy*, 18(4), 43.
- Van de Ven, A. H. (2005). Running in packs to develop knowledge-intensive technologies. *MIS Quarterly*, 365-377.
- Van de Ven, A. H., Angle, H. L., & Poole, M. S. (Eds.). (2000). Research on the management of innovation: The Minnesota studies. Oxford University Press, USA.
- Venkatesh, V., Morris, M. G., Davis, G. B., & Davis, F. D. (2003). User acceptance of information technology: Toward a unified view. *MIS Quarterly*, 425-478.

- Ventola, C. L. (2014). Mobile devices and apps for health care professionals: Uses and benefits. *Pharmacy and Therapeutics, 39*(5), 356.
- Wachter, R. M. (2012). Personal accountability in healthcare: Searching for the right balance. BMJ Quality & Safety.
- Ward, J. R., & Clarkson, P. J. (2004). An analysis of medical device-related errors: Prevalence and possible solutions. *Journal of Medical Engineering & Technology*, 28(1), 2-21.
- Wensing, M., Paech, B., Roth, C., & Schwill, S. (2019). Learning, understanding and the use of information technology: A survey study among primary care physician trainees. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19, 1-8.
- Wong, J. H. K., Naswall, K., Pawsey, F., Chase, G., & Malinen, S. (2021). Adoption of technological innovation in healthcare delivery: A social dynamic perspective. PsyArXiv.
- Woods, P. A., Bennett, N., Harvey, J. A., & Wise, C. (2004). Variabilities and dualities in distributed leadership: Findings from a systematic literature review. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 32(4), 439-457.
- World Health Organization. (2011). mHealth-New horizons for health through mobile technologies. Retrieved from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44607</u>
- Xu, Z., Ge, Z., Wang, X., & Skare, M. (2021). Bibliometric analysis of technology adoption literature published from 1997 to 2020. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 170, 120896.
- Zaltman, G., Pinson, C.R.A., and Angelmar, R. (1973), Metatheory and Consumer Research, Holt, Rinehart and Winston, New York, NY.

Zhao, Y., Li, K., & Zhang, L. (2019). A meta-analysis of online health adoption and the moderating effect of economic development level. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 127, 68-79.

#### **Appendix A: Ethics Amendment Approval**



HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE

Secretary, Rebecca Robinson Telephone: +64 03 369 4588, Extn 94588 Email: <u>human-ethics@canterbury.ac.nz</u>

Ref: HEC 2020/47 Amendment 2

29 July 2022

Sanna Malinen Management, Marketing and Entrepreneurship UNIVERSITY OF CANTERBURY

Dear Sanna

Thank you for your request for an amendment to your research proposal "Balancing Job Demands and Resources for Healthcare Employees" as outlined in your email dated 21<sup>st</sup> July 2022.

I am pleased to advise that this request has been considered and approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee.

Yours sincerely

X SC-A

Dr Dean Sutherland Chair, Human Research Ethics Committee

University of Canterbury Private Bag 4800, Christchurch 8140, New Zealand. www.canterbury.ac.nz

FES

# **Appendix B: Study 1 Interview Information Letter**

Interview information letter

Department of Management, Marketing, and Entrepreneurship

University of Canterbury Business School Email: sanna.malinen@canterbury.ac.nz; katharina.naswall@canterbury.ac.nz; jennifer.wong@canterbury.ac.nz; fleur.pawsey@canterbury.ac.nz; geoff.chase@canterbury.ac.nz

Date:

HEC Ref: 2020/47

## Balancing job demands and resources for healthcare employees

## Information Letter

We are organisational researchers from the University of Canterbury working on understanding the demands and resources in medical professions, particularly around technology-worker interface. We are partnering with Professor Geoff Chase from the University of Canterbury to explore the challenges and enablers for implementing new technology in healthcare workplaces.

We invite you, as a clinical director/chief or a senior clinical staff, to participate in an interview to share your experiences with introducing new medical technology at your hospital. We will be asking you questions about your specific hospital context (e.g., staffing resources) and perceptions around technology uptake (e.g., who are the key decision-makers and influencers?).

If you choose to participate, your involvement will be to take part in a 30-45 min-long interview conducted over Zoom at a time that is convenient for you. Please note that we will treat the information you provide with the strictest confidence. You will be asked if the interview's audio can be recorded so the research team can review it at a later time. You will have the opportunity to request a transcript of your interview so you can review and redact information from our analyses. If you do not want the interview to be recorded, the interviewer will take notes by hand instead.

The results of the project may be published, but presentation of the findings will include only aggregated information across job roles (i.e., overall themes that emerged from all discussions).

Your participation is voluntary and you may withdraw at any time without penalty. If you want to withdrawal during the interview, you may ask the interviewer to stop. You can provide your email to the researcher for an opportunity to review the final themes from this research.

Only the research team will have access to the recordings and data. The recordings and data will be stored on password-locked computers at the University of Canterbury.

Because of the topic of demands at work, some of the questions may concern sensitive issues, and there may be a risk of causing emotional distress. If you experience distress while participating, you should stop participating and notify one of the researchers, or contact your local community support services or your general practitioner for support.

Please indicate on the consent form if you would like to receive a summary of the results of the research project.

This project has been reviewed and approved by the University of Canterbury Human Ethics Committee, and participants should address any complaints to The Chair, Human Ethics Committee, University of Canterbury, Private Bag 4800, Christchurch (humanethics@canterbury.ac.nz).

Research Team:

### Jake Watson

School of Psychology, Speech, and Hearing

University of Canterbury | Te Whare Wananga o Waitaha

Christchurch, New Zealand

(jake.watson@pg.canterbury.ac.nz)

### Dr Sanna Malinen

Department of Management, Marketing, and Entrepreneurship

UC Business School

University of Canterbury | Te Whare Wananga o Waitaha

Christchurch, New Zealand

(sanna.malinen@canterbury.ac.nz)

### Dr Katharina Näswall

School of Psychology, Speech, and Hearing

University of Canterbury | Te Whare Wananga o Waitaha

Christchurch, New Zealand

(katharina.naswall@canterbury.ac.nz)

### **Dr Jennifer Wong**

School of Psychology, Speech, and Hearing

University of Canterbury | Te Whare Wānanga o Waitaha Christchurch, New Zealand (jennifer.wong@canterbury.ac.nz) **Dr Fleur Pawsey** School of Psychology, Speech, and Hearing University of Canterbury | Te Whare Wānanga o Waitaha Christchurch, New Zealand (fleur.pawsey@canterbury.ac.nz) **Dr Geoff Chase** Department of Mechanical Engineering University of Canterbury | Te Whare Wānanga o Waitaha Christchurch, New Zealand (geoff.chase@canterbury.ac.nz)

# **Appendix C: Study 1 Informed Consent**

Interview informed consent

Department of Management, Marketing, and Entrepreneurship

University of Canterbury Business School Email: sanna.malinen@canterbury.ac.nz; katharina.naswall@canterbury.ac.nz; jennifer.wong@canterbury.ac.nz; fleur.pawsey@canterbury.ac.nz; geoff.chase@canterbury.ac.nz

Date:

HEC Ref: 2020/47

Balancing job demands and resources for healthcare employees

# Informed Consent

 $\Box$  I have been given a full explanation of this project and have had the opportunity to ask questions.

 $\hfill \Box$  I understand what is required of me if I agree to take part in the research.

 $\Box$  I understand that participation is voluntary and I may withdraw from the study at any time without consequences. Withdrawal of participation can also include the withdrawal of any information the researcher have recorded should this remain practically achievable.

 $\Box$  I understand that any information or opinions I provide will be kept confidential to the research team and that any published or reported results will not identify the participants nor specific responses.

 $\Box$  I understand that all data collected for the study will be de-identified, and kept in locked and secure facilities and/or in password protected electronic form.

 $\Box$  I understand that I can request a transcript of my interview for review, and can redact information from the analyses by contacting the research team.

 $\Box$  I understand that I am able to receive a report on the findings of the study by providing my email address below.

 I understand that I can contact the researcher Jake Watson (jake.watson@pg.canterbury.ac.nz), Dr. Sanna Malinen (sanna.malinen@canterbury.ac.nz), Dr. Katharina Näswall (katharina.naswall@canterbury.ac.nz ), Dr. Jennifer Wong (jennifer.wong@canterbury.ac.nz ), Dr. Fleur Pawsey (fleur.pawsey@canterbury.ac.nz), or Dr. Geoff Chase (geoff.chase@canterbury.ac.nz).

If I have any complaints, I can contact the Chair of the University of Canterbury Human Ethics Committee once the human ethics approval is completed (humanethics@canterbury.ac.nz)  $\Box$  I agree for this interview's audio to be recorded.

 $\hfill\square$  By signing below, I agree to participate in this research project.

Name: Signed:

Date:

Email address:

(optional; for receiving a report of findings and/or reviewing the final themes. Please underline which you prefer)

# **Appendix D: Study 1 Interview Structure**

# **Project Overview and Informed Consent**

- Introduction to the project, its objectives, and the importance of participant consent.
- Ask the participant for permission to record the interview.
- Walk through the process for collecting signed informed consent or recording verbal consent.

# Part 1: Hospital Context, Staffing, and Resourcing

- Can you describe your role, tenure, and any managerial responsibilities at the hospital?
- What is the nurse-to-bed ratio in your hospital?
- Could you provide an overview of the population and area served by the hospital, including beds per population and typical occupancy rates?
- How would you describe the demographics of the area the hospital services?
- Is your hospital considered tertiary or county level, and what are the general attitudes toward public health and the status of doctors in your region, including any political or financial pressures?

# Part 2: Technology Uptake Barriers and Enablers

- Can you reflect on a time when new technology was introduced in your workplace?
- What was the nature of the technology?
- How was the technology introduced to the workplace?
- What were the initial reactions to the technology?
- Can you discuss any barriers and enablers to technology uptake, both system and person related?

• What has been the impact of the new technology on professional practice and decision-making?

# Part 3: Organisational Practices and Culture Around Innovation

- Can you explore general barriers and enablers to technology adoption in your organization, including decision-making processes for new technology introduction?
- Who are typically involved in the decision-making for new technology, and what are the key steps and duration for implementation?
- How would you describe your team's structure, culture, and attitude towards innovation and risk associated with technology developments?
- Can you discuss the level of openness, learning culture, psychological safety, and confidence in handling new technology within your team?
- What does successful technology uptake look and feel like in your organization?

# Conclusion

- Expression of gratitude for the participant's time.
- Inquiry if they know anyone interested in being interviewed and request to pass on the advert blurb and contact information.

# Appendix E: Study 2 Information Letter and Consent

# Kia ora,

We are a group of organisational and engineering researchers from the University of Canterbury, Christchurch (NZ), exploring healthcare personnel's attitudes toward medical technology adoption, used for clinical diagnosis, monitoring, and treatment. We aim to understand some of the challenges that come with introducing new medical technology in healthcare.

We would like to invite healthcare leadership and staff to take part in a survey, taking  $\sim$ 5 mins to complete. Your participation is voluntary and you may withdraw at any time without penalty. You can withdraw simply by closing your browser.

The survey is completely anonymous and your responses cannot be linked back to you. The results of the project may be published, but presentation of the findings will include only aggregated information. The data will be stored on password-protected computers at the University of Canterbury, and only the research team will have access to the data.

This project has been reviewed and approved by the University of Canterbury Human Ethics Committee (REF 2020/47), and participants should address any complaints to The Chair, Human Ethics Committee, University of Canterbury, Private Bag 4800, Christchurch (human-ethics@canterbury.ac.nz).

Thank you very much for your contribution.

If you agree to participate, please click the arrow below to start the survey. By clicking this, you acknowledge that you have read the above information and consent to taking part in the survey.

Please feel free to contact any member for the research team for more information.

Assoc Prof. Sanna Malinen (sanna.malinen@canterbury.ac.nz) Prof. Katharina Näswall (katharina.naswall@canterbury.ac.nz) Prof. Geoff Chase (geoff.chase@canterbury.ac.nz) Dr. Jennifer Wong (jennifer.wong@canterbury.ac.nz) Jake Watson (jake.watson@pg.canterbury.ac.nz)
#### Appendix F: Study 2 Survey Poster

# Complete our 5 min survey! How do you feel about Healthcare Tech in your workplace?

The use of healthcare technologies has the potential to address many challenges in the healthcare workplace such as clinician workload, healthcare provision and health inequities. But introduction is key and we want to hear from you!

This survey aims to help us understand the attitudes of healthcare professionals' towards the socio-organisational factors and challenges associated with introducing new medical technology in healthcare.

## Who is eligible? Healthcare professionals. (I.e., physicians, surgeons, nurses, midwives, technicians, dentists, physio)

This research is being completed alongside LEAPS. A technology and digital health project based at the University of Canterbury, Aotearoa. Our mission is to provide equitable access to the best diabetes technology and care. By working with health providers and communities to get the best possible devices into the hands that need them.

Any questions please contact: Jake Watson at jake.watson@pg.canterbury.ac.nz





HEC: REF 2020/47

www.leaps.nz

## Appendix G: Study 2 Survey Materials

Preface	Item
Please rate how important these factors are in determining whether or not you use new	1. The technology meets my user needs.
medical technology:	2. The technology makes my job easier.
	<ol> <li>The technology improves my natients' outcomes</li> </ol>
	4 The technology is easy to use
	5 I was involved in the development
	of the technology.
	6. The training to use the technology is effective
	7. There is sufficient time to learn how
	to use the technology.
	8. There is effective communication
	about the technology roll-out.
	9. My supervisors consistently support
	the use of the technology.
	10. My patients like the technology.
	11. The technology is cost-effective.
	12. The technology is physically
	accessible in the workplace.
	13. My patients' whānau like the
	technology.
	14. The technology provides valuable
	patient data.
	15. My learn preferred 1 use the
	system/equipment.
	16. There is sufficient time to integrate
	technology into work processes.
	17. I was involved in the selection of the technology.
	18. There is enough availability of
	the technology for all users.
	-

#### Importance Questions

Workplace Environment Items

Thinking of your current work team in general	1. We are united in trying to reach
(refer to the one team that you mostly interact	our goals for performance.
with):	2. We all take responsibility for any
	poor performance.
	3. I can bring up concerns with my
	team.
Thinking about your manager/director in general (refers to the leader you mostly interact	4. Explain rules and expectations to my work group.
with), how often do they:	5. Lead by example.
· ·	6. Show openness to new ideas.
	7. Notice when I put effort into my
	work.
Thinking of your current organisation in	8. My organisation is orientated
general:	towards investing in innovations.
	9. My organisation has been
	successful in implementing new
	technologies.
No preface	10. There are tasks associated with
	new technologies that I could not
	do well.
	11. I feel I can handle the new
	technologies with ease.
	12. I feel anxious when I work with new technologies.

**Demographic Questions** 

What is your age in years? What is your gender

- Female -
- Male
- Another gender -
- Prefer not to say -

What is your current job title?

How long have you worked in your current role?

How long have you worked in healthcare?

What particular piece of technology were you thinking of when completing these ratings?